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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 321 DECEMBER 2023

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of Metfs Bidco
Limited {the “Company”} and its subsidiaries in the UK (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is the holding company of the Group.

The principal activities of the Group are the acquisition and collection of non-performing consumer debt
portfalios, as well as providing first-class debt collecting services to its clients.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors have made a going concern assessment for the Company, covering a penod of at least 12
months from the date of approval of these financial statements. This assessment included considerations
of forecasts prepared by Garfunkelux Holdco 2 S.A. ("GH2") and its subsidianies (together “"the GH2
Group”).

As part of the assessment the Directors considered severe but plausible scenarios, including a significant
reduction n collections. This assessment indicated that the Company would maintain sufficient liquidity
and cash reserves even in downside scenarios.

The GHZ2 Group is however reliant on successful refinancing of the GH2 Group’s existing high yield bonds
{“Notes”), due to expire 1 November 2025 and 1 May 2026, and the Revolving Credit Facility ("RCF”), due
to expire on 4 August 2025. While the Directors understand that discussions regarding the re-financing of
the RCF are ongoing, the GH2 Group recently announced that it can now proceed with a fully consensual
implementation of its recapitalisation transaction which would extend the maturity of the Notes by three
years and ncorporate a 10% cash paydown at the point the refinancing s executed. Whilst the autcome
of the discussions on the RCF are uncertain at the signing of these financial statements, the Directors are
confident they wili lead to a successful re-financing ahead of the existing maturities.

Based on thg above, the Directors beheve that it remains appropriate to erpare the financial statements
on a going concern basis. However, this matter \ndichtes the existence ofla material uncertainty related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern and, therefore, that the Company may be unabte to realise its assets and discharge its habilities
in the normal course of business. The financial statements do not inciude any adjustments that would
result from the basis of preparation being inappropriate.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year (year ended 321 December 2022:
£nil}.

COLEEAGUES

The Group continues to support equal opportunmbies in respect of recruitment, career progression and
colleague management processes. Consideration 1s given to all applicants for employment, irrespective of
any of the protected characteristics as detalled i the Equaity Act 2010. it is the poiicy of the Group to
treat disabled persons fairly by making reasonable adjustments to the workplace and husiness processes.
Likewise, in the event of a member of staff becoming disabled, every effort 1s made to ensure that their
employment within the Group can continue. Support is alsg given to internal applicants in maoving to new
jobs in other parts of the organisation.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

COLLEAGUES (tontinued)

The members of the executive team conducted a number of staff briefings throughout the year that kept
our people fully informed and updated on business activities, including financial and economic factors
affecting the performance of the business. Regular colleague surveys are undertaken to understand the
views of colleagues and feedback is taken into consideration when making decisions that are likely to
affect their interests. The Group’s intranet is used on a routine basis to keep colleagues and others
informed about important business issues, the progress that is being made on key corporate programmes,
and other changes affecting the Group, its colleagues, and other stakeholders. Colleague engagement is
further encouraged through a colleague beonus scheme which rewards both performance of the individual
and the Group.

SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Company knows that every customer’s story is different and seeks to put their needs first. The
Company seeks to engage with customers through a variety of channels and will help find a solution for
each customer’s debt that suits them and helps them meet their goals.

The Company's commitment to Operational Excellence means that in each part of the business we consider
whether any activity should be supplied internally or externally. We ensure that contact with each of our
suppliers remains proportionate to their impact on the business and undertake regular business reviews.

INVESTORS

The Metis Bidco Group is comprised of a number of trading subsidiaries, responsible for the Lowell
operations in the UK. Engagement with Investors is predominantly led by the wider Garfunkelux Group
with the key engagement channel being the presentation of the quarterly results. Through corporate
bonds there are a range of investors, who are updated and engaged through a series of quarterly bond
calls. Ultimate ownership of the Lowell Group resides with Permira and Ontario Teachers’ Pension Plan.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements are
shown on page 1.

CHARITABLE AND POLETICAL DONATIONS

During the year, the Group has made charitable donations of £155,600 (year ended 31 December 2022
£62,000). The Group made no political donations during the year {year ended 31 December 2022. None)

STHEAMLINED FNERGY AND (ARBON REPORTING (SECR)

Year ended 31 Year ended
December 2023 31 becember
2022
UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy usage
Energy consumpbion used to calculiate emissions (kwh) 1,940,226 1,427,882
Scope 1 ~ emissions in metric tonnes CO2e
Gas consumption 3427 50.47
Scope 2 - emissions in metric tonnes CO2e
Purchased electricity 362.90 222.65
Total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 397.17 273.12
Intensity ratio — Tonnes CO2e per m? of building space 0.04 0.03
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

STREAMLINED ENERGY AND CARBON REPORFIING {(SECR) (continued)

Intensity measurement
The chosen intensity measurement ratio 15 total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e per m? of building
space.

Measures taken to improve energy efficiency

The nature of our business means that we have a low impact on our physical environment and we are
complying with environmental regulations and effectively managing waste and recycling. Given the
significance, we are still striving to improve our position, for exampie through reducing CO2 and GHG
emissions by reducing travel and better use of our premises in the short term, and in the longer term,
targeting a BREEAM rating of "excelient” in aur new purpose-built offices {from 2023).

SECTION 172 STATEMENT

The Section 172 statement s included in the Strategic Report, which includes detait on how the directors
have fulfilled their duties in the year.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION YO THE COMPANY'S AUDITOR

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they
are each aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
each director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director to make himself/herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that
information.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2024, Lowell Receivables Financing 2 extended the Senior Facility to £375m, with the revaoiving
period being extended to Jan 2026 and the legal final maturity extended to Jan 2029.

During May 2024, the Group purchased a 51% interest in a <o investment {("LRF47), which holds non
performing consumer receivables that are purchased frem third parties. The Group also acts as the
servicer to thiese receivahbtes. As|a result of its interest and acting as the|servicer, the Group c?nsolidates
LRF4. l

In April 2024, the Senior £175m Facihity for Lowel! Receivables Finanaing 1 was modified to change the
amortisation date to September 2024, Durning the amortisation peried, the faality cannot be redrawn. This
modification extended the availability period, so allowing the facility to be redrawn in Apni 2024,

During November 2024, the Senior £65m Facifity for Lowell Receivabies Financing 3 was decreased from
£65m to Enil. This modification did not have a material impact on the Senior Facility as Lowell had repaid
it in full during December 2023.

In January 2025, Lowell announced it had received suppart from over 30% of the Noteholders for its
recapitalisation transaction. The Company and the requisite majority of Consenting Noteholders have also
agreed to amend the terms of the Transaction to include new €250m New Money Notes which noteholders
can elect to participate i pro rata to their existing haldings.

AUDITOR

Pursuant to section 487 of the Campanies Act 2006, the auditor will he deemed to be reappointed and
KPMG LLP will therefore continue n office.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed an behalf of the Board by

e \ye

Ba r
Director
11 February 2025
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

OBJECTIVES & STHALEGY

The Group plays an important role within the broader credit ecosystem in the UK market, where non-
performing locans, often requiring longer term recovery are sold on, freeing up capital and resource for
the lender whilst also ensuring Customers are then looked after through a responsible credit management

firm.

Qur purpose is then to work with Custemers to help them get debt free and through a clear engagement
model we will understand the Customer’s circumstances and then ensure we achieve the right outcome.
This may be an arrangement to repay the debt in the short or longer term, additional support for those
in a vulnerable situation, or appropriate forbearance for those who are unable to repay at that point in
time and may need debt advice or breathing space. )

The Group’s overarching strategy is to ensure we make credit work better for all, from Clients through to
Customers and our aim is to continue to be the leading company in the UK through delivery across alt
four core areas of our strategy.

In the year to 31 December 2023 these four core areas were;

+ exceed Customer expectations, through driving positive Customer engagement and outcomes,
continuing to build on our market-teading experiences however a Customer chooses to engage with

us;

» being the partner of choice for our Clients, we continue to be focused on Client experience
delivering broader engagement and stronger relationships;

« make Lowell a place where people can thrive. We will sustain our culture based on trust,
accountability, inclusion and collaboration underpinned by our leadership philcsophy;

s, responsibly drivr collection effectiveness and effigiency, continually striving for better, more
efficient and effeclive processes. We are always focussed|on making things easier for cur Customers,
Clients and Colleagues, whilst managing our risks with effective governance

and in doing so, deliver strong, sustainable results, as outiined in the following accounts.

THE BUSINESS MODEL

The Group’s core business model continues to focus on the acquisition and collection of UK noan-performing
consumer debt portfolics through an integrated collection platform. Lowell in the UK incorporates several
companies within the Group that specialise in debt purchase, debt servicing, litigation and providing
shared services to the Group itself such as Risk, People and Technology.

We see our wider contributicn to society underpinned by both helping our Customers get debt free, but
aiso continuing to tackle the stigma of debt within society and improve overall financial education and
debt collection standards in the UK.

We believe we can demonstrate a positive relationship between achieving our purpose, through
engagement and driving commercial success for our business. Our Board and owners review delivery of
this balance through the overall balanced achievement of all areas of our strategy.

HEGULATORY OVERSIGH

Our main regulatory oversight bodies are the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), overseeing the debt
purchase and debt collection activities; and the Solicitors Regulation Authority (SRA), overseeing litigatiaon
activities. Within the Group, Lowell Financial Limited, Lowell Portfolio I Ltd, Overdales Limited and Hoist
UK Limited are all regulated by the FCA and Overdales Limited is also regulated by the SRA.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

REGULATORY OVERSIGHT (continued)

Our Client base means we also operate under the oversight of a number of other regulatory, authority
and industry bodies, including the Information Commissioners Office (ICQ), the Credit Services
Association (CSA), the Office of Communications (Ofcom), the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets
(Ofgem) and Water Services Regulation Authority (Ofwat). We enccourage an active dialogue with each of
our regutators angd engage in a range of activities and sharing of documentation to enhance greater
communication and understanding between all parties.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINITIES

As a result of its normal business activities, the Group is exposed to a range of risks, the most significant
being credit risk on the non-performing debt portfolios acquired, market risk, given the macroeconomic
conditions and hquidity nsk. Details of the Group’s financial risk management policies are set out n Note
27.

Based on the above indications the directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

[n 2023, the Group, through its subsidianes, acquired 1.8m (year ended 31 December 2022: 1.9m)
consumer debt accounts with a face value of £1.3bn (year ended 31 December 2022: £1.6bn).The
business acquired portfolios from 26 vendors during the year {year ended 31 December 2022:. 34) across
a wide range of industry sectors, including e-Commerce, Financial Services and Telecommunications.

The Group benefits from a Revolving Credit Facility {("RCF”) of €455.0m which benefits the wider
Garfunkelux Group and 1s contracted with Garfunkelux Holdco 3 S.A. The Group benefits from three asset-
hacked securitisation facilities after entering into a new securitisation facility of £155m in October 2022,
whereby assets with a 120 month ERC (Estimated Remaining Collections) of £403m were secuntised.

Together, the three secuntisation facihities have total capacity of £570m, of which £396m were drawn as
at 31 December 2023.

On 29 December 2023, the Grloup concluded its slecond asset-backed securitisation colfateralised by
assets. The Group has identified a pool of reperforming assets which represent stable payment
characteristics. The nature of the assets is a poof of reperforming customer accounts which were
purchased by Lowell as part of the acquisition of Hoist Finance UK. The securitised portfolic contains
reperforming accounts with 120-month ERC of £163m. The transaction follows the previous Wolf
secuntisation in 2022, demonstrating the repeatable nature of funding structure across the Group’s
platforms, whilst further evidencing the Group’s ability to increase the velocity of cash flows on its balance
sheet.

The issuance raised c.£120m from the saie of 88% of the Senior Notes with the Group retaining a £14m
(12%) interest and ¢.£25m from the sale of 95% of the Junior Notes with the Group retaiming £1m (5%)
imterest. The Group will continue to service the portfolio.

Performance in 2023 reflects a year of growth and resihence, with the Group buiiding eon the significant
work undertaken in 2022 to improve efficiency and margins, capitalising on unique opportunities 1n the
market to depioy capital at attractive returns and delivering callections against known headwinds both
internally and externaliy.

Metis Bidco Limited Report and Consolidated Financial Statements
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

FINANCOIAL PERFORMANCE {(continued)

In 2022, the Group reassessed the B4-month accounting estimate of the portfolio asset life in line with
IFRS 9, largely as a result of the impact of the Hoist Finance UK acquisition in the UK. Management
concluded that the period over which substantialiy afl the cashflows are recovered from the UK portfolio
assets is on average 120 months, bringing it in line with the Garfunkelux Group’s other regions. The Group
reassessed the asset life of the portfolic as at 31 December 2022, As a result of the change in accounting
estimate the Group recognised net portfolio write up of approximately £73m. The overall carrying value
of portfolio investments at 31 December 2023 was £1,166m, a decrease of £126m with the balance at 31
December 2022 of £1,292m. This decrease is principally driven by the sale of assets to the public rated
ABS structure in December 2023,

The Group's Loss before tax for the year was £0.3m (year ended 31 December 2022: £69.9m Profit).
Profit has decreased in 2023 mainly due to higher finance costs of £42m, of which £30m related to the
increase in securitisation and RCF, and £14m from financing with the wider GH2 group.

The Group's net assets at 31 December 2023 were £454.5m (at 31 December 2022: £455.0m).

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICAYORS ("KPIc}

31 31

December December

2023 2022

Cumulative face value of debt acguisitions £28.6bn £27.3bn
Cumulative number of accounts 42.8m 39.2m
Collections on acquired portfolios F637.5m £506.0m
Consolidated Cash Income (! £645.6m £508.2m
Portfolio Investments (Book value) F1,166.2m £1,291.9m
Purchase of portfolio investments in the year E£18BO.9m £235.3m
Purchase of Asset Baiked Securities in the ypar * L £15.3m £12.5m
120m ERC (Estimated Remaining Coltections) £2,358.6m £2,734.7m
Qperating profit £95.6m E135.6m
Consolidated Cash Adjusted EBITDA - EA33.8m £344.3m

(1) Cash Income s defined as cash collection on acquired portfeiios plus income from 3PC services.

(2) ERC is defined as the expected coltections on acquired portfolios over a defined period, based on the proprietary
vaiuation model and management Jjudgement.

(3) Cash EBITDA is defined as cash collections on acquired portfohos pius service revenue, other revenue and other
income less collection activity costs and other expenses {which together equal operating costs) and adjusted for
non-recurring cost, depreciation and amortisation.

(¢) Includes £33.0m (FY22: £13.tm) book value held as an asset backed security or held at far value. The remamder
of the vajue relates toc amortised cost portfolic investments,

(5) Includes £37 8m acquired and £22.5m disposed as part of Wolf 3 transaction during the year. (FY22: £12 5m
wolf 1 ABS purchase)

ERC and Cash EBITDA are non-IFRS financial measures but are widely used by investors to measure a
company’s asset base and cash flow generation and operating performance respectively. Analysts and
investors use FRC and Cash EBITDA as supplemental measures to evaluate the overall operating
performance of companies in our industry. These have been included to aid the reader of these financial

statements.

These measurements may not be comparable to those of other companies. Reference to these non-IFRS
financial measures should be considered n addition to IFRS financial measures but should not be
considered a substitute for results that are presented in accordance with IFRS.
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STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICAYORS ("KPLIs ) (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, management’s analysis shows that 120 months is an appropriate period over
which to measure the portfolio assets across the Group.

OUTLOOK

We believe the Group benefits fram a strong pipeline of opportunities and i1s well piaced to continue to
grow as a result of such competitive advantages as its diversified origination capability, the scale of its
data assets and its use of forward flow arrangements.

The need for regulatory compliance in the consumer debt mndustry is expected to continue with ongoing
chient requirements and those stipulated by various bodies. We believe we are well placed to continue to
collect debt 1n a customer and compliance centric manner, not least because culturally, our customers are
at the heart of cur business. {See Note 27, Conduct Risk for more details). Qur risk management structure
has been significantly enhanced and improvements continue to be made to the governance structure, All
of the required entities within the Group are FCA reguiated, further details of other regulators can be
found in the Section 172 Statement below.

The consumer debt investor and debt management industries are expected to continue to consolidate
around a smaller number of trusted partners. Clients are increasingly reducing their auction panel sizes
as they seek to maintain relationships with those investors who can demonstrate customer focus, while
economies of scale give competitive advantage in terms of cost of collection and funding. We benefit from
a strong record of being customer-focussed and already have relationships with the majority of key sellers
of debt. We expect this to continue evidenced by continued off-market deats with existing clients, as well
as contract lengths increasing for forward flow arrangements.

We also believe that cur data asset will aid the business in terms of both our mvestment ambitions and
our servicing offerings, leveraging the knowledge that comes from owning over 42 million accounts to
help our clients from underwriting to contact through to responsible collection.

The Group anticipatas a steady flow of debt purchase opportunities, supported by our high proportion of
forward flgw arrangements. We also expect to have good access to any exceptional sales as they occur,
given the iequiremem from chents to manage theyj balance sheets.

The Group can benefit from these opportunities given its reputation as a trusted partner to credit
originators, who in turn have a greater incentive to sell non-performing loans due to regulatory and
liguidity pressures.

The Group continuously monitors collections performance and macrceconomic developments to determine
whether there 1s any impact on its business.

In May 2024, the Group entered into a co-investment agreement with Hoist Finance, through which both
parties jointly purchase portfolio assets with Lowell providing 51% of the financing and acting as servicer,
and Hoist providing 49% of the financing.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT {continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

SECTION 172 SEATEMENT

Throughout 2023, we have gone about delivering against our strategic intent as outlined below.

Customers

Exceed Customer expectations, through driving positive Customer engagement and outcomes, continuing
to build on our market-leading experiences however a Customer chooses to engage with us.

We treat Custemers with respect and understanding. Personalised solutions and tailored support help
them take control of their debt and build their financial understanding and wellbeing.

We know our Customers - we combine industry-leading insights from multipte data sources including
our 4,500+ Customer Panel. In 2023 we used the Panel to build our understanding of the circumstances
that lead people into debt, to test the effectiveness of our written communications as part of our
commitment te Consumer Duty requirements and to trial changes to our digitat channels befare rollout.

We give our Customers an industry leading choice of channels - our digital capabilities are amongst
the best in the sector. We continue to invest in digital technology, pioneering the deployment of an
omni-channel approach i our sector. Our Customers can access our services and support both
digitally, through our app and online portal, and by calling our Customer Engagement Centre (CEC).
Our app, now with Apple and Google Pay options, featured in the top 10 UK financial services apps in
2023,

We encourage and value Customer feedback - we capture this through various voice and online
channels and launched a new market-leading Customer feedback platform in 2023. The Medallia
Experience Cloud captures more data and insights than ever before, which helps us understand where
we can support Customers further and target colleague training.

Supporting Customers in vuinerable situations - all front-tine colleagues received cost of living training
which included information on government help available, reminder of forbearance optiocns and
signposting to free debt advice., We also introduced a flexible payment plan option to give Customers
maore control when they have a temporary change in circumstances.

We know that every Customer’s stdqry is different, and we seek to put their needs first. We skek to
engage with Customers through a variety of channels and will help find a solution for each Customer’s
debt that suits them and helps them meet their goals.

Key areas of Board Customer focus throughout 2023 have been;

Implementation of Consumer Duty regulations, a welcome and key evolution in approach to our
Customers which included reassessing our communications and approach to ensure continued high
standards were betng maintained. We have both a Board Consumer Duty Champion as well as an
Executive sponsor of Consumer Duty, with extensive Board discussions through the year in order to
ensure compliance and progress.

Continued monitoring and assessment of the cost-of-living crisis and ensuring that we are ensuring
our Customer approach remains supportive and relevant given the pressures on affordability through
the period. Lowell have continued to support Customers in maximising their financial situation through
the provision of benefit calculators, access to budgeting tools as well as being able to access their
credit score via the Loweli App. Key decisions have been made on how to centinue to improve the
online journey, simulating the high-quality experience already available through our engagement
centres.

Ensuring that the migration of Hoist Custocmers onto the Lowell systems and strategies has been
achieved with no issues.

The Board have monitored overall Customer engagement and satisfaction levels, utilising the feedback
through the Medallia platform, QA results, Trustpilot ratings as well as evidenced by the low percentage
of complaints and FOS cases.

Metis Bidco Limited Report and Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023
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STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

SECTION 172 STATEMENT {(cantinued)

Our Clients

We look to be the partner of choice for our Clients, cantinuing to be focused on Chent experience delivering
broader engagement and stronger relationships.

s Our business has been built and continues to benefit from strong Client relationships across our key
sectors of e Commerce, Financial Services, Telecommunications and Utilities.

« We helieve that an open, partnership with our clients based on trust is necessary to ensure the best
outcomes for our Custamers, our Ciients and ourselves. We seek to buidd long-term sustainable
relationships that allow us to heip our clients manage Customers who have moved into arrears.

» Clients continue fo look for opportunities to work with us on a longer-term basis, with many of our
contracts wcreasing 1in length. We alsa benefit from strong Chient feedback which we receive annually
through a survey, which allows us to continue to further improve our approach and relationships,

¢ Given our success with our existing sectors of coverage, we continue to discuss with the Board and
Investors potential additional sectors for us to expand into, with success in 2023 within the banking
sector, with several new banking relationships established. This will continue to be a focus for the
future.

Key areas of Board Client focus throughout 2023 have been;

*« Review of pipeline of expected purchases, with a view to strategic growth ambition, as weil as being
mindful of concentration risks and sector strategy deployment. Ensuring that we mamntan the right
halance between level of purchases and achieving a strong IRR.

+« Reviewing progress of our broader sector strategy, 1n particular progress within the banking sector,
which has seen a number of successful new client relationships being established over the year.

e Ensuring that our transactipn management process continued to mature, setting the stanrjards for the
sector cfn due dingence. T’ f

+ Assessing Chent Experience and feedback through the Chient survey to look for any areas of opportunity
to improve our partnership approach wsth Clients. Whilst Chent engagement scores remain high
{90%+)} we continue to look for opportunities on how to improve ease of doing business as well as
adding additional vaiue to our Chents.

Our People

We continue to make Lowell a place where people can thrive. We will sustain our culture based on trust,
accountability, inclusion and coflaboration underpinned by our transformational leadership philosophy.

e« Our Colleagues remain our foundation and how they work to deliver the right Customer autcomes on
a daily basis 1s critical to the success of the Group. Engagement with our colleagues i1s through a variety
of methods, from regular face-to face meetings with managers to colleague surveys, and regular
‘town -hall” style meetings for communicating key messages.

* As a colieague-focused business we have continued to listen te our people to understand the topics
that matter most to them, at both Group and regional levels. Their inputs shaped the development of
our Employer Value Proposition, one key alement of which 1s embedding a new hybrid working cuiture
that works for our people and our business. Alongside this we have invested in career development
and imitiatives to boost diversity and inclusion across our business, We have also increased financial
assistance for our colleagues to help them through the cost-of-living crisis

+ During 2023, we have continued to embed our overall Employer Value Proposition (EVP), Together We
Go Further. Qur EVP is supported by four pillars: sustainability, hybrid-working, leadership
development and career progression

+« In Q1 2023 we onboarded our colleagues from the Hoist acquisition, with over 130 colieagues joining
across both Leeds and Salford sites.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

SECTIOMN 172 STATEMENT (continued}

Our Colleague Engagement score in the UK has seen an increase year-on-year, with overall
engagements levels in the top quartile. refiecting and validating our approach of listening to colieagues
and adapting to support their needs, as enshrined in our EVP. We continue to review all of the feedback
from colleagues and look for opportunities to deliver improvements across our rewards, environment
and culture to ensure all colleagues have the opportunity to thrive during their time at Lowell.

In Q3 2023 we moved inte our new home at Nol The Square Thorpe Park, which has been purpose
built for our needs. The building operates across 6 floors, and includes a Gym, faith Rooms, Wellbeing
Floor, as well as a restaurant and a coffee bar. The facility is designed to promote interaction and
collaboration as teams are in neighbourhoods. Colleague feedback since the move has been extremely

positive.

Throughout 2023 we continued to support our broader DE&I agenda, whereby we want to encourage
every Lowell colleague to be able to be themseives in work. We have established broad networks
groups, such as RISE for promoting growth for our female ceolleagues and advocates and SPARK for
neurodiversity and disabilities. The have all contributed to continuing to develop a supportive culture,
where colleagues tell us that acceptance and psychological safety are key strengths in our recent
Colleague Engagement survey.

The Group continues to support equal opportunities in respect of recruitment, career progression and
colleague management processes. Consideration is given to all applicants for employment, irrespective
of any of the protected characteristics as detailed in the Equality Act 2010. It is the policy of the Group
to treat disabled persons fairly by making reasonable adjustments to the workplace and business
processes. Support is also given to internal applicants in moving to new jobs in other parts of the
organisation.

The members of the executive team conducted a number of Colleague briefings throughout the vear
that kept our people fully informed and updated on business activities, including financial and economic
factors affecting the performance of the business. Regular colleague surveys are undertaken to
understand the views of colleagues and feedback is taken into consideration when making decisions
that are IikerLto affect their interests. Colleague epgagement is furtherl encouraged through a
Colleague bonus scheme which rewards both performance of the individual and the Group.

Key areas of Board Colleague focus throughout 2023 have been;

Ensuring that the integration of our new Colteagues from Hoist was successful,

Ensuring our transition to our new Thorpe Park HQ was delivering the expected market-leading
environment for our Colleagues.

Challenging our progress on DE&I, reviewing progress against our Gender Pay Gap reporting and
diversity ambitions.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

SECTION 172 STATEMENT (continued)

Responsibly driving our collection effectiveness and efficiency

"We will do things well, striving for better, more efficient and effective. Always focussed on making things
easter for our customers, clients and cofleagues.

To meet the long-term aspirations aof our key stakeholders, we continue to invest in improving our
operational capabilities, building additiona! functionality and resihence into everything that we do.

During 2022 following FCA approval Lowell announced the completion of the acquisition of Hoist
Finance UK Ltd positioning Lowell as the UK's largest credit management service provider. The
purchase extended Lowell’'s Customer base and gives the business the data and insight to further
strengthen Lowell’'s award-winning Customer service. During Q! 2023 we successfully migrated all
Hoist accounts and Colleagues over to the Lowell platforms, both ahead of expected timeframes and
under budget.

Throughout 2023 we have continued to be focussed on delivering on our Conduct Risk commitments
and ensuring we continue to give assurance that we have effective Risk & Control processes, as
evidenced by our comprehensive Risk and Control Self Assessments and control testing for each area
of the business. Given the complexity and volume of our Operations, we appreciate that despite all of
these controls, there will be times when we get something wrong, but as a business we commit to
resolving any issues quickly, effectively and consistently as well as then demonstrating that we have
learned from it.

We have been focussed in 2023 on dehivering against the requirements of Consumer Duty and this has
resulted in Lowell being In a streng position to demonstrate substantive compliance with the Duty as
we can evidence that we have identified and delivered enhancements in line with the Duty through the
implementation plan. Mitigating controls to minimise risk of harm to Customers have been embedded.
In line with our positive compliance culture, Lawell will continue to take an iterative approach to
compliance with the Duty by continuously monitoring industry developments published by the FCA.
Progress continues to be menitored through a monthly Conduct and Consumer Duty forum.

We have continged in 2023 to deliver against oLr collection targets across all areas of ﬁhe UK business
with a strong focus on cost effectiveness and efficiency to strengthen our pricing competitiveness. This
has included portfolio specialisms, improved tracing and strategy capability, digital servicing enhanced
to increase efficiencies and improve margins and maximising our return on investment In Litigation
and Enforcement spend In addition, performance has been supperted by a suwte of initiatives designed
to continue to improve the Client and Customer journeys, as well as increasing digital engagement and
ease of Customer interactions with us.

During 2023 we have continued to invest in our Data platforms, with the deployment of a new data
squad to improve availability and accuracy of data to drive opportunity across our business value
streams. This has both improved our data governance standards as well as improved the way data is
ingested to aur Analytics platform.

We are also continuing to dekver agamnst our decision science roadmap, bulding and enhancing our
decision model suite, utthsing advances in our data environment and tooiing. We wiil continue to
explore future innovation through data and Al advances to support operational decisioning capability
and efficiency.

Given the continued threat that cyber risk poses to our business, we have pressed on with further
significant enhancements to our cyber security protections and controls and whilst this has given the
Board assurance of strong controis It will continue to be a key risk focus area of the business.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

SECTION 17272 STATEMENT (contnued)

Key areas of Board Operational focus throughout 2023 have been;

Ensuring that the integration of Hoist was successful.

Reviewing progress against Consumer Duty requirement, including challenge from cur Consumer Duty
Champions on both the UK Executive and the UK Board, in order to ensure compliance and progress.

Reviewing and challenging operational initiatives detivery, both in absclute delivery as well as
realisation of expected benefits,

Ensuring that we continue to deliver the rnight Customer outcomes.
Review and challenge our cyber security protections and controls.

Review of Overdales growth strategy and delivery

Deliver Strong Sustainable Results

"Through impactful engagement with our Colleagues, Clients and Customers we will deliver a strong and
sustainable business model, driving improved returns for our Investors.”

The core strength of the Group remains our ability to acquire and coliect on non-performing consumer
debt portfolios. During 2023 the UK continued to be the wider Garfunkelux Group's largest region
accounting for 62% of the Group Cash EBITDA, with £2.4bn 120-month ERC.

The contribution of all other pillars of the UK strategy are expected to then result in strong sustainable
financial results. Through 2023, the UK business demonstrated strong delivery across every aspect of
the strategy which enabled it to meet its overall business objectives.

As part of our broader financial controls and discipline we have continued to review during the year a
clear, strong approach to managing cut asset quality, including our ability to understand the value of
cur portfolio assets, through discussions in appropriate governance forums. The business also
continued to fpcus on cost efﬂcierrcy and broader risk management ar*as as outlined in pre+ious
sections.

Whilst funding and liquidity is managed at an overall Group level, the UK business continued to ensure
that we maintained appropriate coverage in order to have confidence we can meet our obligations as
they fall due, as well as confidence to support our growth and acquisition ambitions. Throughout 2023
the Board discussed financial strength and funding. As at December 2023, the Garfunkelux Group had
available liquidity of £270m and leverage continued at the lower end of the public guidance.

In addition to our financial strength, a core tenet of our strategy is to deliver resuits that are sustainable
in both longevity as well as with consideration to our obligations to meet our own ESG standards. In
2023 we continued to improve our activity to support our longer term ESG targets, reflected 1n our
silver status rating against the EcoVadis standards. Attached is a link te our 2023 ESG report
(https . //www. fowellbusiness. co.uk/hubfs/Lowell Sustainability%20Report%202023 Final.pdf?hsLang
=en).
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STRATEGIC REPORT (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

SECTION 172 STATEMENT {(cuntinued)

Key areas of Board Financial focus throughout 2023 have been;

» Reviewing our collections and subsequent portfoho performance,

* Reviewmng our portfolio revaluation modelling outputs and impact on balance sheet vaiuation.
» Reviewing progress against our ESG targets.

» Reviewing and challenging cur funding and liquidity positions.

= Challenging our business operating costs and relative efficiency.

+ Ensuning we have an effective resource to operate the business in a contrelied manner.

= Inputting and challenging the wider UK business strategy.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board by:

/CSMQ@&W_

F Barker
Director
11 february 2025
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE DIRECTORS'
REPORT, THE STRATEGIC REPORT AND THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the Group and
parent company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent company financial statements for each
financial year. Under that law they have elected to prepare both the Group and the parent Company
financial statements in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and applicable law.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliabte;

state whether they have been prepared in accordance with internationai accounting standards in
confarmity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
Lo going concern; and

use the going concern basis of accounting untess they either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Company‘ and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. I .
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF METIS
BIDCO LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Metis Bidco Limited ("the Company”) for the year ended 31
December 2023 which comprise the consclidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated and
company statement of financial position, consolidated and company statement of changes in equity,
consolidated and company statement of cash flows and related notes, including the accounting policies in
note 1.

In our opinion:

= the financial statements dgive a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent
Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2023 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

« the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards;

« the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006; and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies
Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs {UK)") and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfiiled our ethical responsibilities
under, and are independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC
Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate
basis for our opinion.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 1 to the financial statements which indicates that the Company’s ability to
continye as a going concern is dependent on the successful refinancing of the high yield bonds and
revolving credit facility by the parent company Garfunkelux Holdcoﬁ S.A. These events and conditions,
along with the other matters explained in note 1, constitute a ‘material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt an the Company's ability to continue as & going concern.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
Going concern basis of preparation

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis. As stated above, they
have concluded that a material uncertainty reiated to going concern exists.

Our conclusion based on our financial statements audit work: we consider that the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate

Fraud and breaches of laws and reguiations - ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions
that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud.
Our risk assessment procedures included:

« Enquiring of directors, the audit committee, internal audit and inspection of policy documentation
as to the Company’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the
internai audit function, and the Group's channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have
knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

« Reading Board, audit committee, and minutes.

» Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications
of fraud throughout the audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF METIS BIDCO LIMITED
{continued)

As required by auditing standards, we perform procedures te address the risk of management override of
controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition, in particular the risk that income from portfolio
investments is overstated and management maybe in a position to make inappropriate entries.

We also identified a fraud risk related to the valuation of portfolio investments response to the risk of bias
in accounting estimates.

We performed procedures including:

+ lIdentifying journal entries and other adjustments to test based on risk criteria and comparing
the identified entries to supporting documentation. These included those created or posted by
individuals who typically do not create or post journal entries, those containing unusual
descriptions, those containing unusual combinations of debits and credits, and those to seldom-
used accounts.

+ Assessing whether the judgements made in rmaking accounting estimates are indicative of a
potentiai bias.

+ Critically assessing management's Estimated Remaining Collections (ERC) forecasts against
historical collections experience, including taking account of the potential impacts of the current
economic environment and collection strategies.

e Critically assessing management's ERC forecasts using our sector knowledge, market data and
external economic forecasts, and corroborating to evidence provided by management.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and
regulations.

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect
on the financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience through discussion with
the directors and others management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the
directors and other management the policies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and
regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any
indicalivns of non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these taws and regulations on thJ‘financial statements varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies’ legislation}, distributable profits legislation and
taxation legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of
our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-
compliance could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance
through the imposition of fines, litigation or the Joss of Group’s license to operate. We identified the
following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: employment law, FCA regulation, money
laundering and certain aspects of company legislation recognizing the nature of the Group’s activities and
its legal form. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-compliance with these
laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and
legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or
evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected
some material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and
performed our audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify
it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls, Qur audit
procedures are designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-
compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF METIS BIDCO LIMITED
{(continued)

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsibie for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Gur opinion on the financial
statements does not cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors’ report and, in deing so, consider
whether, based on our financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or
inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

+ we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

+ in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the
financial statements; and

+ in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for
our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

+ the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and
returns; or

» certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
We have nothing to report in these respects.
Directors’ responsibilitiH; | )

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 15, the directors are responsible for: the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such
internal controf as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group
or the parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial
statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at
www . frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities
This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part

16 of the Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF METIS BIDCO LIMITED
{continued)

other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by taw, we do not accept or assume respoensibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

A &‘l‘,(,\/vs‘ IR

Alexander Simpson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

1 Sovereign Square

Soveregign Street

Leeds

LS1 4DA

11 February 2025

I 1
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Income from portfolic investments

Portfolio write up

Gain ¢n derecognition of financial assets

Fair value gains/losses on portfolio investments
Finance revenue on acquired portfolio
investments

Service revenue

Other income

Total revenue

Operating expenses
Collection activity costs
Other expenses

Total operating expenses

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs
{Loss)/Profit before tax

Income tax credit

(Loss)/Profit for the year attributable to equity

shareholders

Other comprehensive Income

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributabile to equity shareholders

Year ended
31
December
2023
£'000

Note

14 285,497
14 25,143
14 -
14 4,923

315,563

2,417
5,747
323,727

(151,665)
(76,467)
(228,132)
95,595

5 12,135
6 (112,059)
(4,329)

7 4,052
(277)

(277)

Tho notes on pages 26 to 76 form part of these financial statements
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Year ended
31
December
2022

£'000

260,961
46,047
3,086
1,161

311,255

2,143
21
313,419

(111,095)
(66,692)
(177,787)
135,631

4,669
(70,418)
69,882

1,252
71,134

71,134
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 DECEMBER 2023
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Note 31 December 31 December

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Non-current assets
Goodwill g 220,003 220,003
Intangible assets 10 6,630 6,981
Property, piant and equipment 11 31,367 28,524
Investments 13 100 50
Portfolio investments - amortised cost - non-current 14 774,004 897,613
Portfolio investments - Asset Backed Security - non current 14 5,975 -
Portfolio investments - FVTPL - non-current 14 18,802 13,068
Portfolio investments - OCT - non current 14 8,250
Derivative asset - non-current 17 - 14,514
Deferred tax asset i9 13,865 9,810
Total non-current assets 1,078,996 1,190,563
Current assets
Portfolio investments - amortised cost 14 356,153 381,253
Trade and other receivables 18 295,705 123,505
Cash and cash equivalents 24 68,276 59,968
Dernivative asset 17 6,084 -
Total current assets 729,218 564,726
Total assets 1,808,214 1,755,289
Equity
Share capital 23 - -
Foreign exchange reserve 10 i ‘ (6}
Retained Earnings 454,481 454,758
Total equity attributable to shareholders 454,491 454,752
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings - non-current 20 603,098 816,768
Provisions - non-current 22 3,465 2,977
Other financial liabilities - non-current 12 21,907 21,138
Total non-current liabilities 628,470 840,883
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 263,365 152,801
Provisions 22 155 136
Borrowings 20 459,551 303,568
Other financial tiabilities 12 2,182 3,151
Total current liabilities 725,253 459,656
Total equity and liabilities 1,808,214 1,755,289

These financial statements of Metis Bidco Limited, Company No. 07652466 were approved by the Board
of Digectors on 11 February 2025. Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by;

6 \Lo~

F Barker - Director
11 February 2025

The notes on pages 26 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAIL POSITION
31 DECEMBER 2023

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

Nate £'000 £'000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment i1 96 291
Investments 13 227,404 222,306
Deferred tax asset 19 5,952 4,763
Total non-current assets 233,452 227,360
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 18 1,451 1,991
Cash and cash equivalents 24 294 84
Total current assets 1,745 2,075
Total assets 235,197 229,435
Equity
Share capital 23 -
Retained deficit 105,531 111,450
Total equity attributable to shareholders 105,531 111,450
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Ot?teI financial liabilities 12 ” 77 131
Total non-current liabilities 77 131
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 59,170 53,247
Borrowings 20 70,367 64,475
Other financial habilities 12 52 132
Total current fiabilities 129,589 117,854
Total equity and liabilities 235,197 229,435

These financial statements of Metis Bidco Limited, Company No. 07652466 were approved by the Board
of Directors on 11 February 2025.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by

WQMW-

Director
11 February 2025

The notes on pages 26 to 76 form part of these financial statements.,
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

GROUP

Balance at 01 January 2022
Profit for the year attributable to
equity sharehclders

Movement in the year

Balance at 31 December 2022
(Loss) for the year attributable to
eguity shareholders

Movement in the year
Balance at 31 December 2023

COMPANY

Balance at 1 January 2022
(Loss) for the year

Balance at 31 December 2022
(Loss) for the year

Balance at 31 December 2023

Share
Capital
£000

ShaHe
Capital
£000

Foreign
Exchange
Reserve
£'000

(7)

(6)

16
10

Foreign
Exchange
Reserve
E£'000

The notes on pages 26 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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Retained
Earnings
£'000

383,624
71,134

454,758
(277)

454,481

Retained
Earnings
£'000

117,582
(6,132)
111,450
(5,919)
105,531
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Total
£'000

383,617

71,134

1
454,752

(277)

16
454,491

Total
£'000

117,582
(6,132)
111,450
(5,919)
105,531

N



Classification: Public

Lowell §>

METIS BIDCO LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Year ended Year ended

31 31
December December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Net cash inflow from operating activities 172,805 154,592
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and eguipment (8,919) (1,141)
Proceeds from disposai of property, ptant and equipment 441
purchase of intangible assets (5,839) (3,116)
purchase of investments (50)
Acquisition of subsidiary - (332,556)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (14,367) (336,813)
Financing activities
Payment of tease lrabilities {2,030) {1,862)
New borrowings 136,815 459,392
Repayment of borrowings (200,151) (222,523}
Interest and fees paid (84,793) {53,593)
Net cash generated from financing activities (150,159) 181,414
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,279 (805)
Cash and cash equwalent};{at beginming of yeai 59,968 ‘ ) 60,773
Exchange differences 29
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year* 68,276 59,968

* Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2023 contains £45.8m of restricted cash (31 December
2022 £39.1m).

The notes on pages 26 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Note
Net cash outflow from operating activities 24
Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary 8
Investments in subsidiaries 13

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities

Payment of lease iiabilities
Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

|

Year ended 31
December 2023
£'000

5,378

(5,098)
(5,098)

(70)
(70)

210

84

294

The notes on pages 26 to 76 form part of these financial statements.
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Year ended 31
December 2022
£000

45,415

(45,204)
(45,204)
(185)
(185)

25

59

84
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General information and basis of preparation

These financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
applicable international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006. Those standards have been applied consistently to the historical periods.

Metis Bidco Limited, as the parent undertaking for the following entities, guarantees all outstanding
liabilities to which the subsidiary company is subject to at the end of the 2023 financial year under section
479A of the Companies Act 2006. This guarantee absolves these entities from the requirements of the
Act relating to an audit of these individual accounts:

Country of Company number Ordinary
Name incorporation pany shareholding %
Lowell Legal Limited (formerly Lowell
Sahcitors Limited) UK 8647091 100
Lowell UK Shared Services Limited UK 8336897 100
Overdales Legal Limited UK 7407310 100
Loweil Portfolio I Ltd UK 4857418 100
Lowell Financial Limited UK 4558936 100
Host Finance UK Lirmited UK 08303007 100
Lowell Finance UK Holdings 1 Ltd 100
{formerly Hoist Finance UK Holdings 1 UK 11473838
ird}
Lowell Finance UK Holdings 2 Ltd 100
{formerly Hoist Finance UK Holdings 2 UK 11473850
Ltd}
Lowell Finance UK Holdings 3 Ltd 100
(formerly Hoist Finance UK Holding+ 3 ‘l UK 11473909 |
Ltd)
Robinson Way Limited UK 06976081 100

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to the end of each year. The results of subsidiaries acquired or sold are consolidated
for the periods from or to the date on which controf passes. Control is achieved where the Company has
the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from
its acbivities. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consoldation.

No Statement of Comprehensive Income s presented for Metis Bidco Limited itself, as permitted by
Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Going concern

The Company Directors have made a going concern assessment for the Company, covering a period of at
least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. This assessment inciuded
considerations of forecasts prepared by Garfunkelux Holdco 2 S A, ("GH2"} and its subsidiaries (together
“the GH2 Group”).

As part of the assessment the Company Directors considered severe but plausible scenarios, including a
significant reduction in collections, This assessment indicated that the Company would maintain sufficient
liguidity and cash reserves even in downside scenarios.

The GH2 Group is however reliant on successful refinancing of the GH2 Group’s existing high yield bonds
("Notes"}, due to expire 1 November 2025 and 1 May 2026, and the revolving credit facility ("RCF"), due
to expire on 4 August 2025. While the Directors understand that discussions regarding the re-financing of
the RCF are ongoing, the GH2 Group recently announced that it can now proceed with a fully consensual
impiementation of its recapitalisation transaction which would extend the maturity of the Notes by three
years and incorporate a 10% cash paydown on Day 1. Whilst the outcome of the discussions on the RCF
are uncertain at the signing of these financial statements, the Directors are confident they will lead to a
successful re-financing ahead of the existing maturities.

Based on the above, the Company Directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial
statements on a going concern basis. However, this matter indicates the existence of a material
uncertainty related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern and, therefore, that the Company may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements do not include any
adjustments that would result from the basis of preparation being inappropriate.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration for each acquisition 1s measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange)
of assets given, liagbilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 1ssued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-retated costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition date fair value. Subsequent changes
in such fair values are adjusted agaimnst the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period
adjustments (see below).

All other subsequent changes in the fair value of corntingent consideration classified as an asset or liability
are accounted for in accordance with relevant [FRSs. Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration
classified as equity are not recogmsed.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, hiabilities and contingent habilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under [FRS 3 (2008) (Business Combinations) are recognised at therr fair value at the
acquisition date, except that of deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee
benefit arrangements that are recognised and measured in accordance with I1AS 12 (Income Taxes) and
[AS 19 (Employee Senefits) respectively.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject to a
maximum of one year from the date of acquisition.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising 1n a business combtnation is recognised as an asset at the date that control 1s acquired
{the acquisition date). Goodwil s measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non controliing interest 1n the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest (if any) 1 the entity over the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable
a:fseits acquired and the liabilities assumed.

Total goodwill 15 tested for impairment annually. Additionally, if there 1s evidence of impairment in any
cash-generating unit (CGU), goodwill allocated to that CGU is also tested for impairment.

The Group calculates the recoverable amount of each CGU by determining the higher of its fawr value less
costs to sell, and value in use. Certain assumptions are made in relation to the value in use calculation
ncluding forecast cash flows, growth rates, and an appropriate discount rate.

[f the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rated basis in relation to the carrying amount of each asset
In the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill 1s not reversed in a subsequent period.

On a business combination the portfolio investments are remeasured to fair value using an appropriate
discount rate at the date of acquisition, caiculated based on actual perfarmance and forecasts at that
date.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the goodwill attrrbutable to that subsidiary s included when calculating the
prefit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition and effective interest rate method

Finance revenue on acquired portfolio investments

Income from portfolio investments represents the yreld from acquired portfolio investments, all of which
arose In the UK, Acguired portfolio investments are held to collect contractual cash flows of payments of
sotely principal and interest, recognising them at amortised cost and in line with [FRS 9.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLLICIES (continued)

Finance revenue on acquired portfolio investments (continued)

The effective interest rate ("EIR") is the rate that exactly discounts 120 months estimated remaining
collections, being the expected life of estimated future cash receipts of the acquired portfolio asset, to the
net carrying amount at initial recognition (i.e. the price paid to acquire the asset).

Acquired portfolio investments are acquired at a deep discount and classified as purchased or originated
credit impaired ("POCI") in line with IFRS 9. As a result, the estimated future cash flows, and hence EIRs
reflect the expected credit losses within each portfolio.

Increases or decreases in portfolic carrying values can and do occur should forecasted cash flows be
deemed greater or less than previous estimates and because of the rolling nature of the period to derive
future cash receipts. The difference in carrying vaiue following an enhanced collection forecast is
recognised in the portfolio write up line item within revenue, with subsequent reversals also recorded in
this line. If these reversals exceed cumulative revenue recognised to date, an impairment is recognised
in the SCI, aiso recorded in the portfolio write up line.

Service revenue

Service revenue represents amounts receivable for tracing and debt collecting services (commissions)
provided to the debt collection industry, net of VAT, all of which arose in the UK. The revenue is recognised
when the service is provided (accrual basis) which in this case is when cash is collected from the debtor
on behalf of the Group’s client.

Impairment of acquired portfolio investments

Acquired portfolio investments are reviewed for indications of impairment in accordance with the IFRS 9
forward looking expected credit loss {"ECL"} model. As the Group’s portfolio investments are classified as
POCI assets, lifetime ECL is included in the calculation of EIR. Impairment adjustments represent changes
Lo Larrying values, discounted at the tiK, of the porttolio investments as a result of reassessments of the
estimated future cash flows. These are recognised in net portfolio write up in the SCI,

The impairment adjustment is calculated by discounting regularly revised cash flow forecasts developed
for each individual portfolio investment, at the initially set EIR. The cash flow forecasts, which represent
the undiscounted value of the ERC of our portfolio investments at a given point in time, are calculated
over the portfolio expected useful life, based on previous month’s collections and portfolio performance
information collated within our proprietary valuation model.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group's SFP when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument,

Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s Consolidated SFP when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

On initial recogneition, a financial asset is classified at amortised cost, fair value through profit ar loss
("FVTPL™), or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

Ctassification
Amortised cost financial assets
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in

order to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest.

Portfolio investments are acquired from institutions at a substantial discount from their face value. The
portfolios are initially recorded at their fair value, being their acquisitton price, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.,
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Amortised cost financial assets (continued)

The portfolio |hvestment asset 1s analysed between current and non-current in the SFP. The current asset
1s determined using the expected cash flows arising in the next twelve months after the SFP date. The
residual amount s classified as non-current,

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not
quated it an active market are classified as ‘Trade and other receivables’. Trade and other receivables
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income
1s recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables (including Trade
receivables) when the recagnition of interest would be immaternal.

The Group has forward flow agreements in place in relation to the future acquisition of portfolic
mnvestments. The fair vaiue and subsequent amortised cost of portfolios acquired under these agreements
are determined on the same basis as the Group’s other acquired portfolio investments.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category relates to financia! assets and habilities that must be recognised at fair value through profit
or loss. Such assets or liabilities are initially recognised at transaction price, which at this point equates
to fair value. They must be measured subsequently at fair value,

The main assets and habilities in the Group fathing into this category are portfolio investments held at
FVTPL and derivative financial instruments that do not fall under the scope of hedge accounting in
accordance with IFRS 9.

Fair value through other comprehensive income

Impairment of financial assets 3

Financial assets, othetihan those held at fair value through profit or loss / SCI (F\A’PL), are assessed for
indicators of impairment at each year end. Financial assets are impaired where there is cbjective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financiai
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset to another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset
derecognised) and the sum of (1) the consideration receved (including any new asset obtained fess any
new liability assumed) and (i) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised n OCI is recognised
in profit or loss.

If the terms of the financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantialiy different, then the contractual
rnghts to cash flows from the original financal asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original
financial asset is derecognised, and a new financial asset 15 recognised at fair value less any ehgible
transaction costs.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantally all the risks and rewards of ownershup and continues
to controi the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retamned interest in the asset and an assocrated
habihty for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recogmises collateralised borrowings for the proceeds receswved

Financial liabilities and equity
Debt and equity instruments are classfied as either financial habilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

J.OACCOUNTING POLTICTIES {confinued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities held by the Group are measured at amortised cost using the EIR method, except for
those measured at fair value throcugh the SCI, e.g. derivative liabilities. The Group derecognises financial
liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelted or they expire.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group does not hold derivative instruments for trading purposes.

Derivative financial instruments have been used for hedging. As of the balance sheet date, they relate to
hedges taken out to hedge the risk of variability in cash flows. Hedge accounting is not apphed.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative contract 1s entered
into, and subseqguently re-measured at their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or ioss
is recognised in the SCI immediately. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and
as liabilities when fair value is negative.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire.

Fair value measurements
The fair value of financial instruments is determined in accordance with IFRS 13 {(Fair Value Measurement),
as described in Note 27.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation {legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, if it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and if a rekable estimate
of the amount of the obligation can be made.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present OT!'gation at the SFP date, taking into account the risks and qu;Lertalntles surrounding the

obligation) Where a provision is measured using the cash fiows estima to settle the present obhigation,

its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic bencfits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currentiy payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit/(loss) for the year. Taxable profit/(loss) differs from
net profit/(loss) as reported in the 5CI because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liahitity for current tax is calcufated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by

the year end.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cantinued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit/{loss) and 1s accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that tt is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and habilities are not recognised If the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combnation) of other assets and liabililes in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabdities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and 1t is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrymg amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each SFP date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be avallable to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the hability is
settled or the asset is realised based on tax taws and rates that have beern enacted or substantivety
enacted at the SFP date. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the SCI, except when it relates to items
charged or credsted in other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax I1s also recognised
within other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and habilities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax habilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authonty and the Group intends to settle ts current tax assets and habilities on a net basis.

Non-current asset investments 1 R \
Investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment, which is tested annually. Impairment is
recognised if the carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use.

Pensions
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes for the benefit of its employees.
Contributions payable are charged to the SCI in the year they are payable.

Collection activity costs

Collection achivity costs represent direct staff costs and the direct third-party costs in providing services
as a debt collection agency or collecting debts on acquired portfolio investments; examples inciude
printing and postage, third party commissions, search and trace costs, litigation, telephone and SMS text
costs
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or tess, net of outstanding hank overdrafts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately
equal to their fair value.

The Group holds cash in relation to its securitisation facilities. These restricted cash balances are shown
within cash.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, piant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised
impairment loss,

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over
their useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Office equipment 5 years
Fixtures and fittings 5 years
Hardware 5 years
Leasehold improvements Life of lease

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the 5ClI.

Intangible assets
Separately acquired or internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any recognised impairment loss.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development {or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised only if technical feasibility has been demonstrated such that:

- the asset will be available for use or sale;

- there is an intention apd ability to use or sell the asset;

- the asset will generatg future economic benefit; and | ‘
- the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured.

Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is expensed
as incurred.

Amartisation is recegnised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over
their useful lives on the following bases:

Software 3 years Straight line

Licences 3 years Straight line

Development costs Not amortised

Acquired customer contracts Expected life of the underlying contract (Collection profiie)

Development costs are not amortised untii the project they relate to 1s complete and goes live. Once the
project is live the costs are moved from development costs to the relevant category and amortised over

the applicable useful economic life.

Assets are reviewed for signs of impairment at least annually and more frequently if necessary,
Impairments are recognised where the carrying value of the asset exceeds the future economic benefit,

Leases

The Group leases various properties and equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods
but may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. This 1s the case
if the contract gives the right to control the use of an asset for a periog of time in exchange for
consideration. This right to control is established if:

. The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset;
and
. The Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

The identified asset should be physically distinct or be implicitly specified at the time the asset 1s made
avatiabie. Even if the asset is specified, the Group does not have the right to use the asset if the supplier
has the substantive right to substitute the asset throughout the period of use. If the contract is for use of
a portion of an asset that is not physically distinct, it is not an identified asset uniess it represents
substantially all of the capacity of that asset.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding hiability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Right of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement of lease
habilty adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received plus any initial direct casts and an estimate of restoration costs.

The lease hability is measured at amaortised cost using the effective interest rate method. It is remeasured
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate or if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

Each lease payment is aliocated between the liabihity and finance cost. The finance cost 1s charged to
profit or loss over the lease period $0 as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
halance of the hiability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's
uleful fife and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised ol a straight-iine basis as an expense In profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The reported results of the Group are sensitive to the accounting policies, assumptions and estimates that
underiie the preparation of the Group's financial statements. UK company law and IFRS require the
directors, in preparing the Group’s financial statements, to sefect suitable accounting policies, apply them
consistently, and make judgements and estimates that are reascnable and prudent.

The judgements and estimates used in applying the Group's accounting policies that are considered by
the directors to be the most important to the portrayal of its financial position are detailed below. The use
of estimates, assumptions or models that differ from those adopted by the Group would affect its reported

resuftts.

Portfolio investment valuation
Portfolio investments are acquired from institutions at a substantial discount from thewr face value and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the £IR method.

The calculation of the EIR for each portfolio is based on the estimation of future cash flows. These cash
flows are estimates and are therefore inherently judgemental. These estimates are based upon historical
collections data from other portfolios with similar features such as type and quantum of debt, or age. The
calculation of the ERC for each portfolio investment is inherently judgemental as it involves the estimation
of future cash flows based upon collections data from the individual debt owed.

Actual cash flows are regularly compared to estimates to assess the accuracy of previous forecasts. Future
collections may differ from those estimated at this point in time and if they do differ, an adjustment is
recaorded to the carrying value of the portfolio and is inciuded as a net portfolio write up or write down
within income.

Management’s key judgement is an assumption that an element of 2023 expected collections have been
deferred into future periods, rather than lost.

In the first part of 2022 the Group’s collections were impacted by the impfementation of enhanced legal
operations, which led to a temporary impact to litigation capacity and case selections. These selections
are a core component of the UK coliectivn strategy and the temporary reduction in capacity impacted
collections across H1-22 until BAU levels were ri established in H2-22, resulting in a re-phasing of the
collections expectation. The UK also experienced some marginal softening in the value collected from
settlement payments across the year. Encouragingly, payment plan default rates remained low and
performance in the UK was in line with the reforecast performed at H1-22.

Given the reason behind reduced collections was largely not customer-related but instead due to the
Group’s operating capacity, management has judged that the collections were deferred into later periods
and not lost. Collections initiatives have resulted in increased gross ERC.

At 31 December 2023, management has re-evaluated its underlying portfolic-fevel ERC in line with the
Group's revaluation poticy to assess the future collections expectation in retation to timing of coliections
and quantum of coltections and concluded that the pertfolic investments carrying value is appropriate.
Management has apphed an overlay to the modelied ERC to allow for the deferred and not lost collections
together with future positive impacts of the delivery of detailed collections initiatives and operational
improvements.

An uplift or reduction in expected future cash flows of 1% would increase or decrease the closing carrying
value of portfelio investments at 31 December 2023 by £11.6m.

A key accounting estimate is the expected life of the Group's portfolio investments. Management's
analysis shows that 120 months is an appropriate expected life for portfolio assets across the Group, see
note 14 for further detaiis. In changing the accounting estimate from 84 to 120 months, the Group
recognised a £73.1m revaluation gain.

Management concluded that the period over which substantially all the cashflows are recovered from the
UK portfolic assets is on average 120 months, which is in line with the wider Group’s other regions
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Goodwill and valuation of intangible assets

The Group recognises goodwill on the acquisition of businesses. Goodwill is the excess of the cost of an
acquired business over the fair value of its net assets. The determination of the fair value of acquired net
assets requires the exercise of management judgement, particularly for those financial assets or liabilities
for which there are no quoted prices, or assets such as acquired investment portfolios where valuations
reflect estimates of future cash flows.

Goodwill s not amortised but is tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired. Debt purchase cashflows form the principal
cash flows.

Determining whether goodwiil is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated. Calculation of the value in use requires an estimate of future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU after a suitable discount rate has been applied to calculate present value.
This inherently involves a number of judgerments in that cash flow forecasts are prepared for periods that
are beyond the normal requirement of management reporting, and the appropriate discount rate relevant
to the business is an estimate. Additional sensitivities of key metrics is presented in Note 9.

The Group’s significant estimate in the cash flow analysis underpinning the impairment review is the leve|
of portfolio acquisitions that can be achieved over the forecast period within each CGU, based on the
future profitability and funding profile of the Group.

Based on the CGU’s value in use, a consistent decrease in the forecast portfolio acquisitions across the
entire forecast period of 8% would result in an impairment at 31 December 2023. Management believes
it is tughly unlikely that the Group would observe a sustained reduction in portfolio acquisitions of this
level considering the resihence shown by the business during the COVID-19 pandemic, and the cost of
living crisis. Furthermore, the Group’s forward flow commitments already in place partially mitigate the
risk of a short-term fall in forecast portfolio acquisitions.

While management has confidence over the Group’s forecasts and the supply of NPLs to the market, future
conditions are nevef ,certain and the Group may not always acquire portfolios in i!i|]1e with its expectations.

Goodwill on acquisitions is not tested separately for impairment but 1 assessed as part of the carrying
amount of the investment.

See Note 9 for further details regarding goodwill.
Consolidation of subsidiaries

Power 15 considered to exist when the Group’s existing rights give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the entity, i.e. the actwities that significantly affect the entity’'s returns, and the
Group has the practical ability to exercise those rights. Power over the entity may anse from voting rights
granted by equity instruments such as shares or, i{n other cases, may result from contractual
arrangements.

Where voting rights are relevant, the Group is deemed to have control where it holds, directly or indirectly,
more than half of the voting rights over an entity, unless there 1s evidence that another investor has the
practical ability to umilaterally direct the relevant activities.

The Group may have power, even when it holds less than a majonity of the voting rights of the entity,
through a contractual arrangement with other vote holders, rights arising from other contractual
arrangements, substantive potentiai voting rnights, cwnership of the largest biock of voting rights in a
situation where the remaiming rights are widely dispersaed (‘de facto power’), or a combination of the
above. In assessing whether the Group has de facto power, it considers all relevant facts and
circumstances including the relative size of the Group’s holding of voting rights and dispersions of haldings
of other vote holders to determine whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2.0 CRIVICAL ACCOUNTING FSTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS {contimued)

Consolidation of subsidiaries (continued)

Securitisation vehicles in which the Group holds an economic interest are usually operated according to
predetermined criteria that are part of the initial design of the vehicles. The Group is exposed to variability
of returns from the vehicles through its holding of various securities in the vehicles. Qutside the day-to-
day servicing of the receivables (which may be carried out by the Group under a servicing contract), key
decisions are usually required only when the intent of the participants regarding the design of the
economic structure or the strategy for the collection of the underlying assets changes.

In assessing whether the Group has the abihity to use 1ts power to affect the amount of returns from its
invelvement with an entity, the Group determines whether in exercising its decision-making rights, it is
acting as an agent or as a principal. The Group acts as an agent when it is engaged to act on behalf and
for the benefit of another party, and as a result does not control an entity. Therefore, in such cases, the
Group does not consolidate the entity. In making the above assessment, the Group considers the scope
of its decsion-making authority over the entity, the rights held by other parties, the remuneration to
which the Group is entitled from its involvement, and its exposure to variability of returns from other
interests in that entity.

Information about the Group’s structured entities is set out in note 16.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an entity if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more elements of control. When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of
equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former
subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Derecognition - Financial Assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cashflows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets are transferred, or in which
the Gr(g.urf neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks a“i rewards of ownership, and it does
not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset {or the
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (11} any cumulative gain
or loss that had been recognised in OCI, is recognised in profit or {oss.

If the terms of the financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash fiows of the
modified asset are substantially different.

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the original
financial asset are deemed to have expired. [n this case, the original financial asset is derecognised, and
a new financial asset is recognised at fair vaiue plus any eligible transaction costs.

During 2022, the Group’s nvestment in Wolf Receivables Financing Plc was derecognised following the
Group determuning it was no longer substantially exposed to the risks and rewards of the financial assets
following the transfer of the contractual cashflows to a third party.

In December 2023, the Group sold assets to Wolf Receivables Financing 3 Plc retaining 12% of the Senior
Note and 5% of the Junior Note. On the basis that the Group did not retain substantially all of the risks
and rewards of the assets, these were derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

3. PROFIT/LOSS BEFORE TAX
a) Profit/loss for the year

Group

Year ended 31

Year ended 31

December December
2023 2022
£'000 E£'000

Profit/(loss) for the year is after charging:
Staff costs (Note 4) 66,524 56,211
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5,303 3,060
Amortisation of intangtble assets 3,007 2,264
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 324 -

Company

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Profit/(loss) for the year is after charging:
Finance Costs (Note 6} J 5,931 LS}822
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (Note 12} 50 i68
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets (Note 12) 26 -
Group
b} Auditor’'s remuneration
Year ended 31 Year ended
December 31 December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Audit of Parent Company and consolidated financial statements 963 539
Fy22 Audit of Parent Company and consohdated financial statements 503
Audit of iinancial statements of subsidiaries 175 135
FY22 Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries a1
Total auditor’'s remuneration 1,732 674

The extent of non-audit services fees payable are reviewed on a consohdated Garfunkelux Holdco 2 S. A.
levet by the Audit Committee in the context of the fees paid by the Group to its ather advisors during the
year. The Committee also reviews the nature and extent of the non-audit services to ensure that
ndependence s maintained. Garfunkelux Holdco 2 5.A. 15 the ulimate parent company of the Group {see
Note 31).
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

4 STAFF COSTs
a) Staff costs

The average number of employees (including executive directors) was:

Year ended Year ended 31

31 December December

2023 2022
QOperational staff 1,340 1,028
Business support 213 345
Total 1,553 1,373

Year ended 31 Year ended 31

December December

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Wages and salaries 59,035 49,370
Social security costs 5,715 5,381
Pension costs 1,774 1,460
Total 66,524 56,211

b) Directors’ remuniLation I ‘

The following table shows the amount of remuneration to directors in respect of their services provided
to the Group.

Year ended 31 Year ended

December 31 December

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Directors’ emoluments \ 2,051 2,194

All the directors provided serv:ices to the Group. 1. S. Pears and C. G. Storrar also provided services to
other entities in the Garfunkelux S.A.R.L. Group.

Emoluments paid to other key employees who are not directors of this Company but are directors of
subsidiaries of the Company are detailed in Note 28. These employees are paid by subsidiary undertakings
of the Company for ther services as directors to the Group.

The number of directors who have benefits accruing under defined contribution pension schemes is five
(year ended 31 December 2022: five).

The ighest pawd director received remuneration in respect of services to the Group of £395K (year ended
31 December 2022: £4260k).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

5 FINANCE INCOME

Derivative fair value gain
Other interest receivable
Total

Lowell »

Year ended Year
31 ended 31
December December
2023 2022

E'000 £'000

- 4,669

12,135 -
12,135 4,669

The dertvative fair value gain in 2022 relates to the interest rate cap derivative contract described in note

17.

6. FINANCE COSTS

Group

Interest payable on intergroup loans
] Interest and fees payable on revelving credit facility
Interest payable on Senior Loan
Other interest payable
Realised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange
Release of deferred finance costs
Interest expense from lease liabilities
Derivative fair value loss
Total

Company

Interest payable on loan notes
Interest expense from tease liabilities
Total

40

Year ended
31 December
2023

£'000
39,457
10,770
40,217
1,761

(6)

11,604
1,852

6,404
112,059

Year ended
31 December
2023

£'000

5,892
55
5,947
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Year ended
31 December
2022

£'000
32,474
1,220
22,795
5,807

(15)

4,689

295

3,153
70,418

Year ended 31
December
2022

£'000

5,807
15
5,822
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NOTES TQO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

7O INCOME TAX
a) Amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year Year
ended 31 ended 31
December December

2023 2022
£'000 £°'000
Current taxation
Current tax on loss/profit for the year 3 3
Adjustment in respect of previous periods -
Total current tax charge 3 3
Deferred tax
Current year (6,759) 147
Prior year adjustment 3,130 -
Impact of change in tax rate (426) (1,402)
Total deferred tax credit (Note 19) {4,055) (1,255)
Total tax credit (4,052) (1,252)

The standard rate of corporation tax applied to profits is 23.5% (2022: 19%). An increase in the UK
corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% was effective from 1 April 2023. Where relevant, deferred tax
assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2023 are calculated based on the 25% rate. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of carried forward tax losses of £7.8m on the basis it is not considered
probable that there will be sufficient future taxable profits available to utilise the losses. The tax losses
which have been carried forward for the year on which deferred tax assets have been recognised are

£56.1m {2022: £38.1m). ”

b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The tax assessed for the year is lower {(year ended 31 December 2022: lower) than the standard effective
rate of corporation tax in the UK for the year ended 31 December 2023 of 23.52% (year ended 31
December 2022: 19.00%) The differences are explained below:

Year ended Year
31 ended 31
December December

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities before tax (4,329) 69,882
Tax charge on profit on ordinary activities at standard UK corporation (1,018) 13.278
tax rate of 23.52% (year ended 31 December 2022: 19.00%) ! ’
Effacts of:
Prior year adjustment 3,130 -
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 419 1,557
income not taxable (1,416) (7,688)
Tax rate changes (426} -
Effects of other tax rates - (1,402)
Amounts not recognised - 604
Effects of group relief {4,741) (7,601)
Total tax credit for the year (4,052) (1,252)
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

8. ACQUISITION OF SUBSTDIAREES
Acquisition of Hoist UK

On 25 October 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital of the Hoist UK business
(comprising of 7 entities} from the Hoist Group. This gualifies as a business as defined in 1FRS 3 Busmess
Combinations.

The amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and fiabilities assumed are as set
out 1in the table below.

EDOD
Portfolio Investment 290,292
Financial assets 11,786
Property, plant and equipment 1,006
Identifiable intangible assets 243
Finanaal habilities {8,752)
Total identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 294,585
Goodwill 47,256
Total consideration 341,841
Satisfied by:

Cash 341,841
Total consideration transferred 341,841
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

Cash consiz?qration | ' 341,841

Less: cash and cash eguivalent balances acquired (9,285)

332,556

The fair value of the financal assets includes receivabies with a fair value of £4.7m and a gross contractual
value of £4.7m.

fhe goodwill of £47.3m arising from the acquisition consists of factors including the value associated with
data assets and portfolio origination capabiliies. None of the goodwill 1s expected to be deductible for
NCOMe tax purposes.

Acqurisition retated costs amount ta £5.2m and are included in the statement of comprehensive income in
other expenses.

Haist UK contributed £1.8m revenue to the Group’s revenue for the period between the date of acquisition
and the reporting date.

if the acquisition of Hoist UK has been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenues
for the year would have been £36m and Group profit would have been £4m.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

9. GOODWILL

Year ended 31 Year ended 31

Cost December 2023 December 2022
£'000 £'000

Opening Balance 220,003 172,747
Addition on acquisition of subsidiary 47,256

At period end 2207003 220,003

Accumulated impairment
Impairment charge
At end of year - -

Net book value
At period end 220,003 220,003

Goodwill acquired in a business combination 1s allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating unit
("CGU") that is expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has
been allocated to one CGU on the basis that these represent the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes and are not larger than the single operating segment defined under
IFRS 8 (Operating Segments). The one CGU identified is the Lowell Operations in the UK, which comprises
of ail subsidiary companies operated in the UK owned by Metis Bidco Limited, relating to the coltlection on
owned debt portfoiios; the collection of third-party debt has been deemed immaterial to the value of
goodwill.

The Group tests goodwiil annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill
might be impaired.

As the acquisition of the Group was more than a year ago and there is no external evidence of fair vatue
curremly available, the assessment of goodwill has focussed on v3iue in use.

The addition on acquisition of subsidiary relates to the Hoist acquisition, as outiined in Note 8,

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined as the higher of fair value less cast to sell and value in
use. The most significant assumptions for the value in use calculation are the level of portfolio acquisitions
during the forecast period and the discount rate applied. Other key assumptions are those regarding the
growth rates and expected changes to collections and direct costs during the forecast period. The Group
uses cash flow forecasts from the latest budgets, prepared for the next four years and extrapolates these
forecasts to an appropriate period to reflect the CGU’s business model.

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the
time vaiue of money and the risks specific to the CGU. The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows
for the CGU’s are hased upon the Group’s weighted average cost of capital ("WACC”) and as at 31
December 2023 the rate used was 10.0% (31 December 2022 9.7%).

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management for the next four years, extrapolates cash flows out to an appropriate period to reflect the
CGU’s business model and then into perpetuity, using a growth rate of 2.0% (31 December 2022: 1.5%).

The forecasts assume growth rates in acquisitions which in turn drive the forecast collections and cost
figures.

The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on the impairment test of the CGU. Each sensitivity has
been performed Independently.

The CGU has a carrying value of £1,641m. The CGU's recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount
by £104m. Based on the value in use a fall in the forecast cash flows to 92%, an increase in WACC of
0.5 percentage points to 10.5%, or a sustained increase in portfolio acquisitions of 11% would result in
an impairment as at 31 December 2023,
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group
Software Development
and licences Costs £1l'8:)aol
£'000 £'000
Cost
At 1 January 2023 14,094 5,470 19,564
Additions - 5,839 5,839
Disposais (3,131) (3,108) (6,239)
At 31 December 2023 10,963 8,201 19,164
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2023 (12,583} (12,583}
Charge for year (1,436) (1,571) (3,007)
Disposals 3,056 3,056
At 31 December 2023 {10,963) (1,571) {(12,534)
Net book value
At 31 December 2023 - 6,630 6,630
At 31 December 2022 1,511 5,470 6,981

Intangible assets acquired through the acquisition of subsidiaries are included in the cost hne above at
their fair value at the time of the acquisition.

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The following items are included W|th|in ‘Property, ptant and equipment’ on the balance sheet:
!

Group
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Assets owned by the Group 8,867 3,087
Right of-use assets (Note 12) 22,500 25,427
Total 31,367 28,524

Company

Right of-use assets {(Note 12)
Total

31 December

a4

2023
£'000

96
96
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

ii. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENTY {continued)

Assets owned by the Group

s Impray Mardware  OFce rota
£'000 £000 £'000

Cost
At 1 January 2023 1,038 2,936 6,383 2,007 12,364
Additions - - 64 8,855 8,919
Transfers - 1,427 (1,427}
Disposals {695) (2,936) (4,056) (1,050) (8,737)
At 31 December 2023 343 - 3,818 8,385 12,546
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 (935) (2,440) (5,115) (777) (9,267)
Charge for year {91) {468) (811} (828) (2,198)
Transfers (51) 51
Disposals 696 2,908 3,959 223 7,786
At 31 December 2023 (330) - {2,018) {1,331) {3,679)
Net book value
At 31 December 2023 13 - 1,800 7,054 8,867
At 31 Decembear 2022 103 496 1,268 1,230 3,097

12. I EASES

The Group’s leases H ' }
The Group’s leases represent right-of-use assets and their corresponding lease liabilities in respect of its
office properties and office equipment.

During the year, the Company exercised its option to terminate leases for properties and reiocated to a
new property. The new lease commenced in December 2022 at which time the Group recognised a right-
of-use asset and lease liability.

a) Right-of-use assets

Amounts recognised on the balance sheet

Group
31 31
December December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Leasehold Property 22,500 25,240
Office equipment - 187
Total 22,500 25,427
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

12 LEASES {(continued)
Company
31 December 2023 31 December 2022
£'000 £'000
Leasehold Property 96 291
Total 96 291

Right-of-use assets are included within ‘Property, plant and equipment’ in the balance sheet.

Additions to right-of-use assets during the 2023 financial year was nil (year ended 31 December 2022:
£22.3m) for the Group and nil (year ended 31 December 2022: nil) for the Company. The addition relates
to a new property lease as the Group moved its business into a new building in Q3 2023.

There was no evidence of impairment on right-of-use assets at 31 Oecember 2023 (year ended 31
December 2022: nil).

b) Lease liabilities

Group

31 31
December December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Non-current 21,907 21,138
Current ! 2,182 3,151
Total 24,089 24,289

Company
31 31
December December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Non-current 77 131
Current 52 132
Total 129 263

Lease liabilities are inciuded in the hine item ‘Qther financial liabilities’ in the consolidated statement of
financial position,
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12 FEASES (continued}
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c) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Group

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets
Leasehold Property

Operating expenses
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets

Finance costs
Interest expense
Total

Company

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets
Leasehold Property

Operating expenses
Loss on disposal of right-of-use assets

Finance costs
Interest expense
Total

Year
ended 31
December
2023
£'000

3,105

26

1,852
4,983

Year
ended 31
December
2023
£'000

50

26

55
131

The total cash outflow for leases in 2023 was £2.0m (year ended 31 December 2022

Group and £130k (year ended 31 December 2022: £130k) for the Company.

d) Other commitments

Year
ended 31
December
2022
£'000

1,665

295
1,960

Year
ended 31
December
2022
£'000

168

15
168

: £2.0m) for the

Other than the information noted above for teases, the Group has no other outstanding commitments at

31 December 2023 {31 December 2022 none).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

13, NON-CURRENT ASSET INVESIMENTS

Group
Subsidiary undertakings
31 December 31 becember
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Cost
Opening balance 50 .
Additions 50 50
100 50

At period end
The addition relates to the share capital of Wolf Receivables Financing 3 PLC 1ssued on 15 August 2023.

Company
Subsidiary undertakings

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
£000 £'000

Cost
Opening balance 222,306 177,102
Additions 5,008 45,204
227,404 222,306

At period end

i i
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

13 NMON CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENITS {(continiuerd)

The Company has investments in the following subsidiary undertakings. All subsidianes, except for Wolf
Receivables Financing Pic and Wolf Receivables Financing 3 Plc are included in the consolidation:

Ordinary Ordinary
shareholding % shareholding %
as at 31 as at 31
Name December 2023 December 2022
Fredrickson International Limited 160* 100*
Lowell Financial Ltd 100* 100*
Lowell Group Limited 100* 100*
Lowell Portfolio [ Ltd 100* 100+
Lowell Portfolic IV Limited 100* 100*
Lowell Receivables Financing 1 Limited 100> 100*
Lowell Receivables Financing 2 Limited 100> 100+
Lowell Recevables Financing 3 Lirmited 100* 100*
Lowell Legal Limited (formerly Lowell Solicitors Limited) 100* 160+
towell UK Shared Services Limited 100* 100+
Overdales Legal Limited 100* 100+
Woif Receivables Financing Pic L1Q0* 100+
Hoist fFinance UK Limited 100~ 100+
Hoist Finance UK Holdings t Limited 100 100
Hoist Minance UK Holdings 2 Linnled 100 100
Hoi'st' Finance UK Holdings 3 Limited l ‘ 100 100
CL Finance Limited 100 100
Rebinson Way Limited 100 100
MKDP LLP 100 100
Companies acquired or incorporated in the year:
Wolf Receivables Financing 3 Plct 100*

All companies are incorporated in the United Kingdom and have their registered office at, Nol The Sguare,
Thorpe Park View, Thorpe Park, Leeds, West Yorkshire, United Kingdom LS15 8GH, unless indicated
otherwise,

*Held directly by the Company.

! Wolf Receivables Financing 3 Plc was incorporated on 15 August 2023 the registered office is 10™" Floor,
5 Churchill Place, London, United Kingdom, E14 SHU.
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METI1S BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

14. PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS

Group
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Non-current
Portfolic investments - amortised cost 774,004 897,613
Current
Portfolio investments - amortised cost 359,153 381,253
Total 1,133,157 1,278,866

The movements in acquired portfolio investments heid at amortised cost were as follows.

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Amortised cost

As at the year brought forward 1,278,866 948,639
Portfolios acquired during the year 180,863 235,285
Collections in the year v (637,196} (505,444)
Income from portfolio investments 285,481 260,961
Portfolio write up 25,143 46,047
Gain on derecognition of financial assets - 3,086
Acquisition of subsidiary - 290,262
As at the year carried forwarc” 1,133,157 i, 78,866

The amortised cost value includes the £73m impact of the 2022 change in ERC from 84 months to 120

months.
The fair value portfolio investments retate to loan notes acquired.

(1} 31 December 2023 balance ncluded £135m gross accelerated gross debt purchase cashflows relating 1o the sale
of portfolio assets to public rated ABS structure. 3t December 2022 balance mncludes £81m gross accelerated debt
put chase cashfiows relating to the deconsolidation of public rated ABS transaction

The carrying value as at 31 December 2023 represents discounted 120 month cash flows of £2,359m (31
December 2022: £2,735m). Of this amount, £1,351m (31 December 2022: £597m) has been provided
as security 1n relation to the asset backed loan facilities.

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Non-current
Portfolio investments - Asset Backed Security 5,975
Total 5,975 -
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

14, PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS (tontinued)
The movements in acquired portfolic investments held as an asset backed security were as follows:

31 December 31 December

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Asset Backed Securities (ABS)
As at the year brought forward -
ABS acquired during the year 5,959
Income from ABS investment 16
As at the year carried forward 5,975 -
31 31
December December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Non-current
Portfolio investments —Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 18,802 13,068
Partfolio investments - Fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) 8,250 -
As at the year carried forward 27,052 13,068

The movements in acq‘Lired portfolio investments held at fair vatue were as followL:‘

31 December 31 December
2023 t 2022
£'000 £'000
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
As at the year brought forward 13,068

12,497

Portfolios acquired during the year 23,574
Collections in the year {263) (590)
Fair value gain 4,923 1,161
Disposat (22,500)
As at the year carried forward 18,802 13,068

- Fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI)
As at the year brought forward
Portfolios acquired during the year
Fair value gain
As at the year carried forward
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

15 INVOLVEMENT WITH UNCONSOLIDATED SECURITISATION VEHICLES

Uncensolidated securitisation vehicles are all structured entities that the Group has an interest in but does
not control. The Group uses structured entities in the normal course of business to facilitate acquisibions
of portfolios in accordance with local law, to allow co investment with other parties, or to implement the
financing required to acquire portfolios. Servicing activities are charged at a market rates, on terms naormai
for the industry, and are considered to be a typical customer/supplier relationship per the meaning of this
term set out in 'IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’.

Nature and risks associated with Group interests in unconsolidated structured entities;

Underlying asset type

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Asset Backed Securities
Number of entities 2 1
£'m E£'m
Amortised cost 6.0 -
Fair value through profit or loss 18.8 131
Fair value through OCI 8.2
Total assets 33.0 13.1

The maximum exposure to loss 1s the carrying value of the instruments summarised above, due to the
nature of the Group’'s holdings at the fact that no additional support has been provided or committed to
the vehicles. Unconsolidated structured entities in which the Group holds an interest are typically financed
by a form of jumior profit participation note, and in j me instances also have senior secured or senior
unsecured liabilities to which the junior positions are subordinated.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

16 TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

In the crdinary course of business, the Group enters transactions that result in the transfer of financial
assets, primarily loan receivables. In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2, the
transferred financial assets continue to be recognised in their entirety or to the extent of the Groups
continuing involvement or are derecognised in their entirety.

The Group transfers financial assets that are not derecognised in their entirety or for which the Group
has continuing involvement primarily through securitisation activities in which loan receivables are
transferred to unconsolidated securitisation vehicles. As at 31 December 2023 Wolf Receivables
Financing Plc and Wolf Receivables Financing 3 Plc were unconsolidated and the remaining three SPvs
were consolidated.

Transferred financial assets that are derecognised in their entirety
Sales to unconsolidated structured entities

Certain securitisation transactions undertaken by the Group result in the Group derecognising
transferred assets in their entirety. This is the case when the Group transfers the ownership of the
financial assets to the unconsclidated securitisation vehicte which the Group does not control. Where
the financial assets are derecognised in their entirety, then the interest in the unconsolidated
securitisation vehicles that the group receives as part of the transfer and the servicing arrangement
represent continuing involvement with those assets.

In April 2022, the Group sold certain loan receivables to a securitisation vehicle and, as part of the
consideration, received 100% of the junior notes issued by the securitisation vehicle. The notes received
represent 100% of the total issuance. In August 2022, the Group sold 51% of the Junior Notes to a
third party, and this transaction was the trigger for the deconsolidation of the SPV and derecognition of
the sold reperforming portfolio. The Group classified the Junior Notes as measured at FVTPL.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group realised a gain of £3m on the sale of the loan
receivables to the unconsolidated securitisption vehicle. During the year ended 31 December 2022, it‘ }
recognised income of £1.Cm in profit and loss on the 51% Junior note holding. The cumulative income
on the notes held on 31 December 2022 was £1.0m. Servicing contracts are discussed below.

In December 2023 the Group sold £162m of portfolio assets, representing a portion of the total portfolio
assets held by Lowell Receivables Financing 3 Limited, via Lowell Portfolio I Ltd, to Wolf Receivables
Financing 3 PLC, recognising a loss on sale of the portfolios of £28m. The proceeds received by Lowell
Receivables Financing 3 Limited were used to repay the Senior Loan in full. As a result, only the }unior
Note remains outstanding, and Lowell Portfolio I Ltd continues to hold 100% of this Junior Note and
consolidates the SPV. Lowell Portfolio [ Ltd holds 12% of the Semor Note and 5% of the Junior Note
issued by Wolf Recetvables Financing PLC. As at 31 December 2023, there was not material fair value
movement or interest income received on the Wolf Receivables 3 Financing PLC Notes held due to the
transaction occurring close to the financial year-end.

The Group initialty subscribed to 100% of the Junior Notes whilst also entering into a separate
agreement to setl 95% of the Notes to a third party 3 business days later. The Group recognised a
recervable of for this sale, which will be paid in instalments over the next 18 months as performance
triggers are met.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

16. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

The following table sets out the details of the assets that represent the Group’s continuing involvement
with the transferred assets that are derecognised in their entirety:

31 December 31 December
2023 2022
£m £'m
Type of continuing involvement
Notes issued by unconsolidated securitisation vehicles
Amgartised cost 6.0
Fair value through profit or loss i8.8 13.1
Fair value through OCI 8.2 :
Total assets 33.0 13.1

The amount that best represents the Group’s maximum exposure to loss fram its continuing involvement
in the form of notes issued by unconsolidated securitisation vehicles is their carrying amount,

As part of certain securitisation transactions that result in the Group derecognising the transferred
financial assets in their entirety, the Group retains servicing rights 1n respect of the transferred financial
assets. Under the servicing arrangements, the Group collects the cash flows on the transferred loan
recervables on behalf of the unconsolidated securiisation vehicle. In return, the Group receives a fee that
15 expected to compensate the Group adeqguately for servicing the related assets. Consequently, the Group
accounts for servicing arrangements as executory and has not recognised an asset/liabitity. The servicing
fee 1s based on a fixed percentage of the cash flows that the Group collects as an agent on the transferred
loan receivables. Potentally, a loss from servicing activities could occur if the costs that the Group wncurs
in performing the servicing activities exceed the fees receivable or if the Group does not perform in
accordance with the servicing arrangements. The servicing arrangements do not give rise to the Group
having control over the securitisation vehicle and the Group therefore acts as an agent.

]

17. DEFL:JVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

£'000 £'000

Non-Current - 14,514
Current 6,084 -
Total 65,084 14,514

The Group entered Interest Rate Cap denvative contracts with a third-party provider to hedge agamst
interest rate fluctuations on the SONIA 1 month index of the Senior Notes held within Lowell Receivables
Financing 1 Limited and Lowell Receivables Financing 2 Limited. The interest rate cap held in Lowell
Recelvabtes Financing 3 Limited was settled when the Senior Notes were repaid 1n full.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

18, TRAUE AND OTHER RECEIVARIES

Group

Trade receivables

Amounts owed by group undertakings {Note A)

Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income
Total

Company

Amounts owed by Group undertakings {(Note A)

Total

Note A: These balances are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand (see note 27).

i9. DEFERRED TAX
Group

Lowell >>

31 December
2023

£'000

173

248,650
40,620

6,262

B2 957206

31 December
2023
£'000
1,451

LA

31 December
2022

£'000

8,228

91,333

591

23,353
238505

31 December
2022
£'000
1,991

1Le following are the major deferred tax assets / (liabilities) rHcogmsed by the Group and movements
thereon during the current and prior reporting year.

At 1 January 2022
Credited to the income
statement*

At 1 January 2023
Credited to the income
statement*

At 31 December 2023

Capital Timing
Allowances differences
£'000 £'000
388 82
(173) (3)
215 79
981 (1,434)
1,196 (1,355)
55

Tax on losses
£'000

8,084
1,432
9,516
4,508
14,024
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

19. DEFERRED TAX {continued)

Company
The following are the deferred tax assets / (liabilities) recognised by the Company and movements thereon
during the current and prior reporting year.

Deferred Tax on

losses

£'000
At 1 January 2022 4,386
Credited to the income statement* 397
Prior year adjustment
Rate change {20)
At 1 January 2023 4,763
Credited to the income statement* 1,189
At 31 December 2023 5,952

*See Note 7

Ihe aggregate amount of unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognised at 31 December
2023, in respect of the Group was £2.0m {31 December 2022: £1.7m).

56

Metis Bidco Limited Report and Consolidated Financial Statements

Classification: Public Year ended 31 December 2023



Classification: Public

METIS BIDCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

20 BORROWINGS
Group

Non-current

Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Loan with immediate parent undertaking
Total Unsecured

Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Senior Lean
Total Secured

Total borrowings due for settlement after 12 months

Current

Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Interest on loan with immediate parent undertaking
Loan Notes 2021 prnincipal and interest

Total Unsecured

Secured borrowing at amortised cost

Revolving credit facility

Senior loan - current

Total Secured

Total borrowings u!ue for settlement before 12 months

Company

Current
Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Loan Notes 2021 principal and interest

Total borrowings due for settlement before 12 months
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31
December
2023
£'000

431,759
431,759

171,339
171,339

603,098

5,594
70,367
75,961

157,747
225,813

323,590
459,551

31
December
2023
£'000

70,367
70,367
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31
December
2022
£'000

431,759
431,759

385,009
385,009

816,768

5,594
64,475
70,069

94,664

138,835
233,499
303,568

31
December
2022
£'000

64,475
64,475
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METIS BIDCG LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

20, BORROWINGS {continued)

Loan Notes 2021

The Unsecured Loan Notes 2021 relate to a loan with the immediate parent undertaking. The interest rate
was 15.25% non-compounding until 15 September 2016 and then 12% compounding annually until 15
September 2020. The principal and accrued interest as at 15 September 2020 have not yet been settled
with the tender, therefore is treated as being repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2023 the amount of Loan Notes 2021 outstanding including accrued interest was
£70.4m {2022: £64.5m).

Loan with immediate parent undertaking

On the 13 October 2015 Lowell Portfolio 1 Ltd (a subsidiary undertaking of the Company) entered into a
loan agreement with the parent undertaking of the Company. The iocan was for an amount of £492.7m,
attracting a compounding annual interest rate of 10%. The loan maturity date was 1 November 2023. The
proceeds of the loan were used to repay the Semor Secured Notes and the RCF. As part of a Garfunkelux
Group re financing arrangement, on 5 November 2020, the contract for the outstanding ioan of £391.8m
between Lowell Portfolio I Ltd and the parent undertaking of the Company was amended for the matunty
date and interest rate. The locan is attracting compounding annual interest of 7.7/7% and the maturity date
is 31 October 2025 The amount outstanding principal as at 31 December 2023 was £391.8m (31
December 2022 £391.8m}.

On 21 December 2020, Lowell Portfolio I Ltd entered into a further loan agreement with Simon Bidco Ltd,
a parent undertaking of the Group, to borrow £40.0m at an interest rate of 7.77%. The proceeds of the
loan were used to repay the RCF. The loan maturity date is 31 October 2025, The amount outstanding
principal as at 31 December 2023 was £40.0m {31 December 2022: £40.0m)}.

Securitisation Facility ~ Asset Backed Loan (Lowell Receivables Financing 1)
On 29 June 2018, Lowell Portfolio I Ltd along with Lowell Receivables Financing 1 Limited entered into a
securitisation facility and thus a Senior Loan agreement totalling £255.0m. The funding was drawn on 20
November 2018 and bore interest at a rate equivalent to 2.75% plus 1 month LIBOR.

During 2018 to 2021, there were a number of amejpdments made to the Senior Loan agreement and at
the beginning of the financial year, the refinanced facility bore an interest rate of SONIA + 3.28% with a
maximum commitment of £175.0m.

During 2023, £74.1m was drawn down by the Group. No further amendments were made to the Senior
Loan agreement durning the financial vear.

Securitisation facility - Asset Backed Loan (Lowell Receivables Financing 2)

In QOctober 2021, Lowell Portfoho 1 tLtd along with Lowell Receivables Financing 2 Limtited (a newly
incorporated special purpose vehicle), entered into a securitisation facility and thus a Senior Loan
agreement totalling £215.0m and obtamned funding of £85m, with a further £E130m drawn down before
the end of 2021. The Senior Loan bears interest at a rate 3.5% + SONIA. The structure 1s revolving untit
December 2023 and maturity date is 22 January 2027.

During 2022 the fac:hty was increased to £225.0m and a further £10.0m was drawn down by the Group.
There were no further changes to the facihty durning 2023,

Securitisation facility - Asset Backed Loan (Lowell Receivables Financing 3)

In October 2022, Lowell Portfolio I Ltd aloeng with Lowell Receivables Financing 3 Limited (a newly
incorporated special purpose vehicle), entered into a secuntisation facility and thus a Senior Loan
agreement totalling £170.0m, against which £155.0m was drawn down. The Senior Loan bears interest
at a rate 3.9% + SONIA.

In December 2023, £162m of the portfohio assets were sold from Lowell Receivables Financing 3 Limited
to wolf Recervables Financing 3 PLC, with the proceeds from the purchase used to repay the Senmor Loan.
At the same time, the derivative used to hedge the Senior toan interest was settled and the hquidity
resarve was released. Lowell Portfolio | Ltd continues to hold the Junior Note and cansolidate the SPV.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Ay BORROWINGS (continu

Revolving Credit Facility (“"RCF’’)

ed)

Lowell >>

The RCF in place in the year, for €455.0m, was set up for the benefit of the Group headed by Garfunkelux

Holdco 2 S.A. The Metis Bidco Limited Group can directly draw on this facility.

The average interest rates during the year were as follows:

Senior Loan

RCF

Loan Notes 2021

Loans with immediate parent underta

21, TRADE AND OTHER PAY
Group

Trade payables

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other taxes and social security
Accruais and deferred income

Other payabies

Tax payable

Total

Company

Trade payables

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Accruals and deferred income

Total

king

ABLES

31

December

2023

7.66%
7.84%
9.70%
7.77%

31
December
2023
£'000

233,123
a7
16,719
13,476

263,365

31
December
2023
£'000

59,066
104
59,170

31
December
2022

3.02%
3.60%
9.70%
7.77%

31
December
2022
£000
172
118,067
197
23,712
3,214
1,439
152,801

31
December
2022
£'000

52,719
528
53,247

Amounts owed to group undertakings are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand (see Note 20).
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

22 PROVISIONS

Dilapidations

o hient Unallocated  oiper  Total
Py o0  Restoration £000 £'000 £'000
£'000

At 1 January 2022 40 1,567 369 690 2,666
Provisions made during the 1,410 i {,410
year
Provisions reversed during
the year {40) (233) (690} (963)
Provisions utilised during
the year
At 31 December 2022 - 2,977 136 - 3,113
Provisions made during the 488 19 507
yvear
Provisions reversed during
the year
Provisions utitised during
the year
At 31 December 2023 - 3,465 155 - 3,620

The Group recognises a provision for the diapidation costs in respect of leased properties. The Group Is
committed to restoring the premises to their original state at the end of the lease term. The Group
relocated its operations i 2023 to a new property, exercising a termination option in November 2023 for
the mam Fr perty loase, ”

The unallocated cash provision represents amounts received from consumers within the last 6 years which
the Company has not been able to identify from the information provided. The Company is committed to
identifying these consumers as soon as possible in order to make sure the cash has been correctly
accounted for.

At 31 December 2023, the Company has provided a guarantee to Garfunkelux Holdca 3 S.A in respect of
its Sermor Secured Notes. No provision has been recagnised as the impact is not material.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

' SHARE CARTT AL

31 31
December December
2023 2022
£ £

Called up, allotted and fully paid:
4 {2022: 4) A ordinary shares of £1.00 each 4 4
1 (2022: 4) T ordinary share of £0.01 each - -
Total 4 4

In December 2019, as part of a Group wide corporate simplification exercise, the Company underwent a
capital reduction where the majority of ordinary shares and preference shares were cancelled. At 31
December 2019, all that remained were 4 A ordinary shares of £1.00 each and 1 T ordinary share of
£0.01.

The rights of all cilasses of shares are set out betow:

Voting

The Ordinary Shares did confer on each holder the right to receive notice of, and to attend, speak and
vote at any general meeting of the Company except that, in respect of any general meeting at which a
director is elected or removed, the holders of the Ordinary Shares were only entitled to exercise 75% of
the total number of votes in respect of any resotution to elect or remove a director and for these purposes,
each holder of Ordinary Shares did have one vote for each Ordinary Share.

The holders of the T Shares were not entitled to receive notice of, or attend and speak at gr vote at any
general meeting of the Company, except that the holders of the T Shares did:

E) have the right to receive notice of, and to attend, any general meeting of the Company at which
resolution to elect or remove a director was to be proposed, and
b) in respect of any such resolutions, had the right to speak and exercise 25% of the total number

of votes and for these purposes, each holder of the T Shares did have one vote for each T Share.
Dividends

The profits of the Company available for distribution and resolved to be distributed would be distributed
as follows:

a) the holders of the Ordinary Shares pro rata to the number of Ordinary Shares held by them,
and
b} the holders of the T Shares receve dividends as and when declared by the board of directors.

Return of capital

On a return of capital on fiquidation, reduction of capital or otherwise (other than on a redemption or
purchase of shares), the balance of any assets available for distribution would be distributed among the
holders of the Shares in the following priority:

a) first, paid to each holder of Shares, in respect of each Share a sum equal to the i1ssue price,
and

thereafter, of the balance remaiming, to the holders of the Ordinary Shares only (and not to any holders
of the T Shares) pro rata to the number of Ordinary Shares.

61

Metis Bidco Limited Report and Consoclidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2023

Classification: Public



Classification: Public

METIS BIDCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

24. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Group

{Loss)/Profit for the year

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equpment and ROU assets
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Loss on disposal of intangible assets

Finance income

Finance Costs

Unrealised gain {loss) fram foreign exchiange

Tax credit (Note 7)

Total

(Increase)/decrease in portfocho nvestinents*
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other recevables
Increase/{decrease} in trade and other payables
{Increase)/decrease in dernvatives
(Increase)/decrease in other assets fron acquisition
[ncrease/{decrease) in cther financial habilities

Income taxes (paid)/receved | ‘
Net cash generated from operating activities

*Includes:

Income on portfolio investiments (Note 14)

Net portfolio write up (Note 14)

Gamn on derecogition of portfolio asset (Note i4)
Portfoho fair value gamn (Note 14)

Caoliectrens on owned portfolios (Note 14)
Portfohos acquired

Cash and bank baiances
Restricted cash balances
Total cash and equivalents
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Year ended
31 December

5,303
510
3,007
3,183
(12,135)
112,059
(6}
(4,055)

107,589

125,749
(171,670}
108,802
2,026

309

172,805

(285,497)
(25,143}
22,500
(4,923)
637,459
(218,647)

125,749

Year ended
31 December
2023

£'000

22,521
45,755
68,276
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Year ended
31 December

3,060
2,204

{4,669)
70,418

(1,252)
140,955

(53,003)
56,911
{49,075)
14,514
47,264
2,029

154,592

(260,961}
(46,047)
(3,086)
(1,161)
506,034
(247,782)

{53,003)

Year ended
31 December

20,906
39,062
59,968
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NOTES TO THE FINANCLAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

24 NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENTS {continued)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately
equal to their fair value.

The Group holds cash in relation to its securitisation facilities. These restricted cash balances are shown

within cash,
Company

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Loss for the year (5,919) (6,132)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 50 168
Finance Costs 5,947 5,822
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 26 -
Tax credit (Note 19) (1,189) (377)
Total {(1,085) (519)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 540 (1,632)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 5,923 47,343
Increase/(decrea;e) in other financial liabilities | |- 222
Net cash inflow from operating activities 5,378 45,415
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Cash and bank balances 294 84

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately
equal to their fair value.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

25. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN BORROWINGS TO FINANCING CASH

FLOWS
Group
Asset
Loan Shareholder RCE backed Total
Notes loan |
oan
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 E'000Q
Balance at 1 January 2023 64,475 437,354 94,664 523,843 1,120,336
Changes from financing cash
flows
Proceeds from lpans and } 62,753 74,061 136,814
borrowings
Repayment of borrowings - - (200,151) (200,151)
Interest paid - {33,565) (10,440) (40,788) {84,793)

Total changes from financing

cash flows - (33,565} 52,313 (166,878) (148,130)

Changes from liabilities

[nterest expense 5,892 33,565 10,770 40,217 90,444
Total liability related changes 5,802 33,565 10,770 40,217 90,444

Balance at 31 December 2023
(Note 20) 70,367 437,353 157,747 397,183 1,062,650

! Company “

Loan Notes Total
£'000 E'000
Balance at 1 January 2023 64,475 64,475

Changes from financing cash flows
[nterest and fees paid

Total changes from financing cash flows - -

Changes from liabilities

Interest expense 5,892 5,892

Total liability related changes 5,892 5,892

Balance at 31 December 2023 (Note 20) 70,367 70,367
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

26, RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Defined contribution schemes
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit schemes for all qualifying employees of its
operations in the UK. The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds

under the control of trustees.

The total cost charged to income of £1,773k (year ended 31 December 2022: £1,460k) represents
contributions payabte to these schemes by the Group at rates specified In the rules of the schemes.

As at 31 December 2023, employer and employee contributions of £301k (31 December 2022: £532k)
due in respect of the current reporting period had not been paid over to the schemes.

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition,
the basis of measurement and the bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial
asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1.

Categories of financial instruments

Group

31 December 31 December
2023 2322
£'000 £'000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 68,276 59,968
Portfolio investments 1,166,184 1,291,934
Trade and other recesvables 295,706 123,505
Derivative asset 6,084 14,514

Financial liabilities
Borrowings

(1,062,649)

(1,120,336)

Trade and other payables (263,365) (152,801)
Provisions (3,620) (3,113)
Other financiat liabilities (24,090) (24,289)
Company

£'000 £'000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 294 84
Trade and other receivables 1,451 1,991
Financial liabilities
Borrowings (70,367) (64,475)
Trade and other payables (59,170) (53,247)
Other financial liabilities (129) (263)
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives
As a result of its normal business activities, the Company and Group has exposure to the following risks:

. Credit risk

. Liquidity risk

. Market risk

. Conduct nisk

. Operational nisk

. Interest rate risk

. Capital management risk
. Fair value estimation risk

This note presents information about the exposure of the Company and Group to each of the above risks,
the Company’'s and Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further
gquantitative disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

The Group has no significant exposure in foreign currency and does not hold any speculative foreign
exchange positions. The Group has a number of foreign suppliers who mvoice n foreign currency. The
total amount invoiced in foreign currency is not significant and is not considered material by the Group.
The Company has no exposures in foreign currency.

The Company and Group have no exposure to equity markets and do not hold any speculative egquity
positions.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financiat instrument
fails to rn el 1ts contractual payment obligations.

The credit risk from the concentration of customers is limited due to the high number of individual
customers and the relatively low vaiue of each of the individual’s debts. At 31 December 2023 the Group
had 42.8m individual customer accounts (at 31 December 2022: 39.2m), of those 17.5m were still open
(31 December 2022: 18.4m) and of those 3.5m made at least one payment durning the last 12 months
{year ended 31 December 2022 3,7m}. The average balance on a customer account at 31 December 2023
was £770 (at 31 December 2022 £662).

The Group’s principal activity is the acquisition and management of underperforming consumer debt
portfohos. All portfolios by their nature are impaired on acquisition and the Group continually monitors
cash collections and the carrying vatues are impared where the underlying performance does not meet
initiat expectations. The on-going risk 1s managed through utihsing a comprehensive porifolio valuation
modei and buifding current expectations of recoverability from historical information on debt types and
customers Into pricing assumptions and models. An Investment Committee is in place, which scrutinises
all aspects of debt acquisition from reputationat and regulatory risk through to the financial assumptions
and maximum bid price.

Inflation presents a fundamenta! risk that has some effect on every customer and counterparty and
consequently on the Company’s credit risk. Customer default rate is the most relevant measure of credit
risk and the Group monitors this on an on-going basis, The default rate during 2023 was 5.78% (2022
4.84%). The default rate s calculated by taking the latest plan due in the month for an account, and
looking at if that account made any payment, and i1s catcuiated on a volume hasis. A default would be
where the plan due date has passed, and no payment has been made. If an account pays less than 1s due
it 1s not classed as a default, but a partial arrears.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

27 FINANUCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in these financial statements represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk. These portfolios are performing in line with the Group's expectations
but are in default reilative to the original contractual terms between the debtor and the third party from
whom the Group acquired the debt. The Group does not hold any collateral in respect of its receivables.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of the Company and the Group being unable to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due, due to insufficient cash, cash equivalents and available drawings. The approach to managing
liquidity is ta ensure, as far as possible, that it wili always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities
when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage
toc the Company’s or the Group’s reputation.

The Company and the Garfunkelux Group manage liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and
banking facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows. At 31 December 2023, the
Garfunkelux Group, and as a result Metis Bidco Limited Group, had available undrawn committed
borrowing facilities. See Note 20 for further details on banking facilities.

The following tables show the Group’s gross undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial habilities
including interest payments at the SFP dates:

Group
As at 31 December 2023

LVerag9e  Carrying Contractual 0-6 6-12 1-5 Overs
Rate Amount cash flows months months years years
% £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
| Revolving credit 7.84 157,747 158,339 156,339 - :
facility
‘2'332”1 Notes 9.70 70,367 70,367 70,367 -
Parent Loan 7.77 437,353 493,295 16,782 16,782 459,730
Senior Loan 7.66 397,183 437,434 76,452 102,266 258,717 -
Lease liabilities 6.37 24,089 38,594 351 351 10,405 27,487
Other liabilities 266,985 266,985 263,365 - 3,620 :
Total liabilities 1,353,724 1,465,014 585,656 119,399 732,472 27,487
As at 31 December 2022
Carrying Contractual 0-6
Average amount cash flows months 6-12 1-5 OverS5
interest months years years
rate
% £'000 £°000 £'000 £°000 £'000 £000
Revolving credit facility 3.60 94,664 94,664 94,664 -
Loan Nates 2021 9,70 64,475 64,475 64,475
Parent Loan 7.77 441,753 526,860 16,782 16,782 493,295
Senior Loan 3.02 523,843 620,231 8,292 39,934 572,005 -
L.ease liabilities 6.04 24,289 31,540 988 435 10,883 19,234
Other habilities - 155,913 155,913 152,936 2,977 -
Total liabilities 1,304,937 1,493,683 338,137 57,151 1,079,160 19,234
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Loan Notes 2021 and Loan Notes: Inciludes loan principal outstanding and accrued interest. For further
detaiis see Note 20.

Parent Loan: Includes loan principal outstanding and accrued interest. For further details see Note 18,
caption “"Amounts owed by immediate parent undertaking”.

Senior Loan: Includes principal outstanding of £397,9m (31 December 2022: £523.8m).

Other liabilities: this includes “Trade and other payables”, “"Provisions”, "Other financial liabilities” and
“Tax liabilities”.

The following tabies show the Company’s gross undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities
ncluding interest payments at the SFP dates:

Company

As at 31 December 2023

Average Carrying Contractual 0-6 6-12 1.5 Over
Interest 5
Rate Amount cash flows months months years years
% £'000 £'000 £'000 E£'000 £'000 £000
Loan Notes
2021 S.70 70,367 70,367 70,367 -
Lease habllities 3.99 129 134 28 28 78
Other liabilities - 59,170 59,170 59,170 - - -
Total
liabilities 129,666 129,671 129,565 28 78 -

As at 31 December 2022

Average
interest Carrying Contractual 0-6 6-12 1-5 Over5s
rate amount cash flows months months years years
% £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Loan Notes 2021 9.70 64,475 64,475 64,475 - - -
Lease habilities 3.99 264 272 91 48 132 -
Other habilities - 53,247 53,247 53,247 - - -
Total liabilities 117,986 117,994 117,813 48 132 -

Loan Notes 2021 and Loan Notes: see Note 20 for further detatls.

Other habilities: includes "Trade and other payables” and "Other financial habilities”
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

27 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENITS (continued)

Ultimate responsibility for hquidity nsk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has
established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Company’s
and the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The
Company and the Group manages liquidity risk by working with the Group Treasury Function responsible
for the wider Garfunkelux Group to maintain adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing
facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles
of financial assets and liabilities. Details of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal
to Further reduce liquidity risk are set out below.

Group financing facilities

31 31
December December
2023 2022
£'000 £'000

Securitisation facilities
Amount used by the Group 395,888 521,298
Amount unused 174,113 48,702

RCF

Amount used by the Group 157,000 93,500
Amount used by other members of the GH2 Group 220,666 270,089
Amount unused 16,900 39,066

Total 9647567 972,655

As at 31 December 2023, the accrued interest on the RCF was £0.7m (31 December 2022: £1.2m). The
RCF is a fmancir”; facility avatlable to the GH2 Group and the maximum amT nt that can be drawn down
is €455.0m. L]

At 31 December 2023 the Group had drawn down £395.9m (31 December 2022: £521.3m) on the
securitisation facility, not including accrued interest, the maximum amount that can be drawn down is
£570.0m (31 December 2022: £570.0m).

The Company has no separate financing facilities.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of changes caused by market variables such as prices, type and timing of debt
coming to the market, i.e., the cost of consumer debt portfolios.

8y only bidding for consumer debt portfolios up to a price that enables the Group to expect a yield high
enough to cover all costs of collection and to contribute to overhead costs, the Group minimises its nsk
against the cost of these portfolios. The Group uses sophisticated pricing models along with extensive
customer and market data to establish the profitability of portfolios coming to market. The Group monitors
its pricing assumptions through an Investment Committee, as described under Credit risk.

The Group manages the unpredictability of the market through a number of financing structures, As at 31
December 2023 the Group has in place a £431.8m foan with its immediate parent and is also party to the
GH2 Group RCF of €455.0m and an asset backed facility of £570.0m (see Note 20 for further details).

At 31 December 2023 £220.7m had been drawn on the Group RCF, by another entity in the Garfunkelux
Group, and £157.0m had been drawn by the Group. This RCF allows the Group the flexibility to bid on
portfolios as and when they come tec market and are not restricted by cash flow constraints.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {continued)

Macro-economic conditions

There 1s continuing evidence of the adverse effects of concerns relating to economic contraction in the UK
along with recent infiationary pressures and the rising costs of living. in response to such pressure, the
Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee has increased the Bank Rate several times since December
2021. Interest rates may further change in the future and the existing increases and any further increases
in interest rates could have a negative impact on the ability of consumers to repay their existing debts.
As a result these challenging macro-economic conditions may adversely affect the performance of
collections which could experience higher delinquency and default rates than anticipated leading to
performance challenges through extended forbearance and increased litigation.

Conduct risk

Conduct risk is the nisk of actions, practices, behaviours or decisions leading to inappropnate or inadequate
customer outcomes. The uftimate penaity would be if the FCA deemed the Company’s and Group’s conduct
and customer interaction to be so poor that they sought to impose financial penalty and/or financial
redress for customers. The directors are not aware of any indication that this 1s a possibility and seek te
minimise the risk by focussing on fair customer cutcomes through a series of policies and the monitoring
of actions. These are reported through a comprehensive structure to uphold the 6 Principles of Treating
Customers Fairly with the outcome of these activities also scrutinised externally through regular client
audits.

The Financial Conduct Authority introcduced a new Ceonsumer Duty, with an implementation deadline in
2023, to bring about a fairer, more consumer-focused, and level ptaying feld, in which firms compete
vigorously in the interests of consumers. Faillure to impiement the standards or provide sufficient evidence
to the reguiator the Company is on track to be compliant with the Duty could result in regulatory scrutiny
and potential sanctions. The Company wiil ensure sufficient resources are available to verify the customer
journey achieves good customer outcomes in line with regulatory timelines.

Qperationatl risk

QOperational risk is defined by the Company arui the Group as the risk arising from inadequate or failed | |
internal systems, processes, controls, people or resulting from internal/external events affecting the
aoperation of the Company and the Group. The Board of Directors are responsible for approving the
Group’s risk appetite statement, which guides the day-to-day management of operational nsk by line
managers. The Company maintains a register of operational risks and contrals, which are subject to
reguldar assessment and testing.

Our approach to operational risk extends to information risk, affecting data management, data protection,
angd cybersecurity. The nsk of cyber-attacks impacting business operations is increasingly matenal, due
to the ongoing increase in the volume and complexity of external threats. We continue to take proactive
steps to manage security and resitience risks and enhance our cyber and technology controls.

The Company recognises that the compiete elimination of operational risk 1s unhkely and economically
prohibitive. When incidents occur, they are promoptly reported in our risk system of record, ensuring we
address impacts and root causes, communicate clearly with impacted customers, and take action to
minimise recccurrence.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of changing interest rates. The Group has minimised 1ts risk against changes
in Interest rates by being funded by share capital and through a loan from its immediate parent and toan
notes, which are of fixed interest rates for therr whole terms. The Group's RCF and asset backed loan
facilities are subject to a variable interest rate.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS {(vontinued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the SFP date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at SFP date was outstanding for the whole year. A 2.5% increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasaonably possible change in interest rates. If interest rates had been
2.5% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2023 would reduced by £13,873k (year ended 31 December 2022: £15,463k)}. This
is attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Capital management risk

The Group’s objective in managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base to support current
operations and planned growth and so to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence. Neither the
Parent Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

The capital structure of the Company and the Group consists of net debt, which includes the borrowings
disclosed in Note 20 after deducting cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity holders
of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained deficit as disclosed in Note 23.

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part
of this review, the committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of

capital.

Fair value of financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the carrying amounts of the financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair
values.

Group i ‘

Carrying amount Fair Value
31 31 31 31
December December December December
2023 2022 2023 2022
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets
Investments and receivables:
Portfolio investments 1,160,210 1,291,934 1,160,210 1,291,934
Trade and other receivables 295,706 123,505 295,706 123,505
Derivative asset 6,084 14,514 6,084 14,514
Total financial assets 1,462,000 1,429,953 1,462,000 1,429,953
Financial liabilities
Financial habilities measured at
amottised cost:
RCF (157,747) (94,664) (157,747) (94,664)
Loan Notes 2021 (70,367) (64,475) (70,367) (64,475)
Trade and cther payables {263,365} (152,801) (263,365) (152,801)
Other financial liabilities (24,089) (24,289) (24,089) (24,289)
Amounts owed to parent (426,165) (437,353) (426,165) (437,353)
Senior Loan (397,183) (523,843) {397,183} (523,843)
Total financial liabilities (1,338,916) (1,297,425) (1,338,916) (1,297,425)

A FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued])
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Company

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Financial assets
Receivables:
Trade and other recevables 1,451 1,991 1,451 1,991
Total financial assets 1,451 1,991 1,451 1,991
Financial liabilities
Financial iabihties measured at
amortised cost:
Loan Notes 2021 (70,367) (64,475) (70,367} (64,475)
Trade and other payables (59,170) (53,247) (59,170} {(53,247)
Other financial liabilities (127} (264) (127} (264)
Total financial liabilities (129,664) (117,986) {(129,664) (117,986)

Valuation technigues and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value
The farr values of financial assets and financial habilities are determined as follows.

. The fair values of financial assets and financial {iabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active hquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

. The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities {excluding derivative instruments)
are determined m accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
ana!jsn using prices from observable current market transac#ions and deaier quotes for similar
instruments. The acquired portfolio investrments fair value is calculated using discounted net 120 month
forecast cash flows as detalled above.

For the Group, the faiwr value of the portfolio investments is determined using a discounted cash flow
medel. The remaining financial assets and habilities carried have a fair value egual to their carrying value,

The fair value of non-financial instruments have been considered and it was determined that the fair value
is materiatly equal to their carrying value therefore no additional disclosure has been made.

The fair value of the portfolio 1s determined using a discounted cash flow model with unobservable inputs.

In previous years, the fair value of the portfolios was calculated by discounting the net forecast cash flows.
To determine the fair value a discount rate and service cost percentage were applied. These were 12%
and 25% respectively for portfolios that are not deemed as “paying” at the point of acguisition and 9%
and 10% for portfolios that are deemed as “paying”. A “paying” portfolio 15 determined at the point of
acquisition based on the proportion of accounts within that portfotio that are set up on a payment plan.
The discount rates have been determined from market information and benchmarking. The service cost
percentage is the percentage used to discount the gross cash flows to net and is based on historical
information on costs to collect.

In 2023 1t has been assumed that the fair value of the portfolios s matenally consistent with the carrying
vaiue of the portfolios, reflecting the weighted average E[R baing consistent with a market discount rate.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTICNS

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking of Garfunkelux Hoidco 2 S.A, which prepares
consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements of Garfunkelux Holdco 2 S.A. are
available from the Company’s registered office at 488, route de Longwy, L-1940, Luxembourg.

The tables below set out the related party transactions and year end balances between the Group and its

related parties and also the Company and its related parties. All transactions are on an arm’s length

basis.

Group

Year ended
31 December

Year ended
31 December

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Transactions with related parties
Interest charge on Loan Notes 2021 - immediate parent
undertaking (5,892) (5,790)
Interest ¢charge on Loan Notes - immediate parent undertaking (33,565) (33,565)
Expenses and costs recharged (from)/to Simon Bidco Limited - -
Expenses and costs recharged (from)/to Simon Midco Limited (16) -
Expenses and costs recharged from Lowell Group Shared (47,430) (16,005)

Services Ltd
Drawdown/(repayment) of loan with Simon Bidco Limited

31 December

31 December

2023 2022

£'000 £'000
Year end balances with related parties
Loan Notes 2021 - principal {Note B) (65,903) (58,685)
Loan Notes 2021 - interest (Note B) H (5,892) (5,790}
Loan principal with immediate parent undertaking (431,759) (431,759)
Loan interest with immediate parent undertaking (5,594) (5,594)
Simon Bidco Limited (trading) (Note A} {5,077) (42,705)
Simon Midco Limited 16,616 16,167
Simeon Holdco Limited 15 21
Lowell Group Shared Services Ltd 9,677 5,176
Lowe!l Financial Services GmbH 79 -
Wolf Receivables Financing plc 609

Year ended

Year ended

Company 31 becember 31 December
2023 2022
£000 £'000

Transactions with related parties

Immediate Parent Undertaking

Interest charge on Loan Notes 2021 - immediate parent (5.892) (5.790)

undertaking

£
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS {continued)

Lowell @

31 Decembher

31 December

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Year end balances with related parties
Immediate Parent Undertaking and Other Group
Undertakings
Simon Bidco Limited - Loan Notes 2021 principal and interest (70,367) (64,475)
(Note B)
Simon Midco Limited (44,017) (44,016)
Lowell Group Shares Services Ltd 42 -
Subsidiary Undertakings
Lowell Portfoito I Ltd (trading) (Note A) (14,264) (7,741)
Lowell Financial Ltd (trading) {Note A) 478 192
Fredrnickson International Limited (Note A) (10) 10
Hoist Finance UK Limited (trading) (Note A) - 5,747
Lowell UK Shared Services Ltd (trading) (Note A) (21 109

Note A: This balance 1s non interest bearning and repayable on demand (see Note 20).

Note 8: These balances are due to the Company's immediate parent undertaking (see Note 20).

Group
Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group, who are not directors of the Company, is
set out below in aggregate for each of the categories specified in [AS 24 (Related Party Disciosures):

Year ended| |

31 December

Year ended
31 December

2023 2022
£'000 £'000
Short-term emplioyee benefits 2,051 2,194

The above detarls relate to key management persannel who are directors of subsidiary undertakings of
the Company. They are paid directors’ emoluments by subsidiary companies for their services to the
Group. Emoluments of directors of the Company, who provide services as directors to the Company and
the Group but are paid by the Company or by a subsiciary company are set out in Note 4b.

Company
Remuneration of key management personnel
No remuneration of key management personnel of the Company 1s provided by the Company.
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

49, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2024, Lowell Receivables Financing 2 extended the Senior Facility to £375m, with the
revolving peried being extended to Jan 2026 and the legal final maturity extended to Jan 2029.

During May 2024, the Group purchased a 51% interest in a co-investment ("LRF4"), which holds non-
performing consumer receivables that are purchased from third parties. The Group also acts as the
servicer to these receivables. As a result of its interest and acting as the servicer, the Group
consolidates LRF4.

In April 2024, the Senior £175m Facility for Lowell Receivables Financing 1 was modified to change the
amortisation date to September 2024. During the amortisation period, the facility cannot be redrawn.
This modification extended the availability period, so allowing the facility to be redrawn in April 2024.

During November 2024, the Senior £65m Facility for Lowell Receivables Financing 3 was decreased from
£65m to Enil. This modification did not have a material impact on the Senior Facility as Lowell had

repaid it in full during December 2023.

In January 2025, Lowell announced it had received support from over 90% of the Noteholders for its
recapitalisation transaction. The Company and the requisite majority of Consenting Noteholders have
also agreed to amend the terms of the Transaction to include new €250m New Money Notes which
noteholders can elect to participate in pro rata to their existing holdings.

30. WALK FROM CASH COLLECTIONS TO CASH EBITDA (UNAUDITED)

Year Year
ended 31 ended 31
Note December December
2023 2022
| ‘ £'000 £'000

Cash collections to Cash EBITDA
Collections on Owned Portfolios 14 637,460 506,034
Service revenue 2,417 2,143
Other income 5,747 21
Total cash income 645,624 508,197
Total operating expenses (226,181} (177,787)

Add Back:

Depreciation 11, 12 5,303 3,060
Amortisation 10 3,007 2,264
Non-Recurring Costs - 6,000 8,594
Consolidated Cash EBITDA 433,754 344,327
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METIS BIDCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

31 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The Company is a subsidiary undertaking of Garfunkelux S.A.R.L., which is the ultimate parent company,
incorporated in Luxembourg,

The largest group in which the results of the Company are consotidated is that headed by Garfunkelux
Holdco 2 S.A., incorporated in Luxembourg. The smallest group in which they are consolidated is that
headed by Metis Bidco Limited, incorporated in Engiand and Wales. The consolidated financial statements
of Garfunkelux Holdco 2 S.A. and Metis Bidco Limited are each available from their registered offices at
488, route de Longwy, L - 1940, Luxembourg and at No. 1 The Square Thorpe Park View, Thorpe Park,
teeds, England, LS15 8GH respectively.
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